UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE

Effects of Robotic Challenge Level on Motor Learning, Rehabilitation, and Motivation: The Real-World Challenge Point Framework

DISSERTATION

submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering

by

Jaime E. Duarte

Dissertation Committee: David J. Reinkensmeyer, Chair Faryar Jabbari Jeffrey L. Krichmar

Chapter 2 © 2013 IEEE. Reprinted with permission, from Jaime Duarte, Berkey Gebrekristos, Sergi Perez, Justin Rowe, Kelli Sharp and David Reinkensmeyer. Effort, Performance and Motivation: Insights from robot-assisted training of human golf putting and rat grip strength, June, 2013. All other materials © 2014 Jaime E. Duarte

DEDICATION

To my mom and dad for their unconditional love and support. To my sister for always being my best friend.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Pa	age
LIS	бт оғ	FIGURES	vii
LIS	бт оғ	TABLES	viii
AC	KNO	WLEDGMENTS	ix
ดบ	RRIC	CULUM VITAE	х
AB	STR/	ACT OF THE DISSERTATION	xii
1	Intr 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	oductionConceptual Framework of the DissertationRehabilitation of the upper extremityUse of robots in rehabilitation and motor trainingAnimal models and robotic rehabilitationOutline of this document	1 2 4 7
	2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5	 2 Effort, performance, and motivation: Insights from robot-assisted training of human golf putting and rat grip strength Abstract. Introduction Methods 2.3.1 Virtual golf putting training for humans 2.3.2 Automatic Grip-Strength (autoGSM) training for rats 2.4.1 Human virtual golf putting 2.4.2 Rat grip-strength training Discussion 	10 11 12 12 18 22 26 26
	3 3.1	Effects of robotically modulating kinematic variability on motor skill learning and motivation Abstract	29 29 30

	3.3	Methods	34 34
		3.3.2 Experimental apparatus and robot-generated dynamic environ-	24
		333 Experimental protocol	24 28
		3.3.4 Assessment of competence and motivation	20 20
		3.3.5 Data analysis	41
	3.4	Results	43
		3.4.1 Impact velocity variability	43
		3.4.2 Ratings of Motivation	45
	3.5	Discussion	53
		3.5.1 Positive effects of ER training	54
		3.5.2 Negative effects of ER training	55
		3.5.3 Positive effects of EA training	56
		3.5.4 Negative effects of EA training	56
		3.5.5 Implications for robot-assisted motor skill training and neurore-	ЕO
			20
4	Rob	otic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE): A system for	r
		assessing and training forelimb motor function	60
	4.1	Abstract	60
	4.2	Introduction	62
	4.3	Methods	64
		4.3.1 Animals	64
		4.3.2 RODOTIC RENADIIITATOR OF THE RODENT UPPER EXTREMITY (RUE)	65
		4.5.5 Medsuring grip strength	67
		4.5.4 Lesion of the spinal cold	69
		4.3.6 Staining	70
		4.3.7 Data analysis	70
	4.4	Results	72
		4.4.1 Exclusion of animals from the analysis	72
		4.4.2 Measurements of forelimb function	72
		4.4.3 Histology analysis	75
	4.5	Discussion	76
		4.5.1 Comparison with GSM	76
		4.5.2 Future directions with RUE	78
5	Fffe	cts of adaptive challenge on strength recovery and the motivation to)
•		train in rats with a unilateral cervical contusion: Toward optima	ĺ
		challenge for unsupervised motor rehabilitation	80
	5.1	Abstract	81
	5.2	Introduction	82
	5.3	Methods	83
		5.3.1 Animals	83

	5.4	5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.3.5 5.3.6 5.3.7 Result 5.4.1 5.4.2 5.4.3	Experimental protocol	84 85 88 88 89 91 91 91
		5.4.4 5.4.5	Adaptive strength training led to a decreased engagement in the task	95 94
	5.5	5.4.6 5.4.7 5.4.8 Discus 5.5.1 5.5.2 5.5.3 5.5.4	Adaptive strength training led to a lower success rate during training	94 97 97 99 99 99 99 100
6	The m	Biman oveme	nual Vending Machine: A robotic device for unsupervised hand ent training during neural repair of a cervical spinal cord injury in a primate model	l , 102
	6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	Abstra Introd Metho 6.3.1 6.3.2 Result Discus	act	102 103 106 106 106 110 112
7	Sum 7.1 7.2 7.3	Challe of the Develo repair The re pervis	of the major contributions of this dissertation enge level of a motor task affects motor training and perception task	118 119 121 123

Bibliography

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

2.1 2.2 2 3	Graphical interface of the virtual golf game	15 21
2.4 2.5	(IMI)	24 25 27
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8	Experimental setup and force schematics	38 46 47 48 49 50 51
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE)Assessment of forelimb functionCorrelation between GSM and RUE measurementsAnalysis of injury size and its effect on performance	66 73 74 75
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	Maximum forces during training sessions	92 93 95 96 98
6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4	The Bimanual Vending Machine	108 113 113 114
7.1	Real-World Challenge Hypothesis	124

LIST OF TABLES

		Pa	ge
3.1	IMI table	. 4	40
6.1	Data summary for 12 sessions with the BVM	. 1	12

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor David J. Reinkensmeyer for his guidance through the past five years. It was through our countless discussions about research that I understood why the doctoral degree awarded is in 'philosopy'. Dave, thank you for your patience, leadership, and empathy throughout this process.

I would like to thank Kelli Sharp for her help with the development of the rodent model and teachings about neuroscience.

I would like to thank Justin B. Rowe and Daniel K. Zondervan for the many interesting and enlightening discussions about motor learning, neuroscience, and rehabilitation and for the many classes we took together, domo arigato.

I would like to thank Albert Sans for his collaboration with the Bimanual Vending Machine and for showing me that an appropriate balance of practicality and attention to detail are needed for speed and quality in product development.

I would like to thank Sergi Perez for 'pointing' me in the right direction with the many issues about programming, tacata!

I would like to thank all graduate and undergraduate students with whom I had the pleasure of working with.

And last, but not least, I would like to thank my parents – Jaime Duarte and Lucia Barriga – and my sister – Maria C. Duarte – for their continuous support and encouragement through the many years of scholar work.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the funding resources available for my studies including the Eugene-Cota Robles Fellowship program, the Roman Reed Foundation, and the Miguel Velez Fellowship.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Jaime E. Duarte

EDUCATION

Doctor of Philosophy in Mechanical and Aerospace Engine	ering 2014
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA
Masters of Science in Mechanical and Aerospace Engineeri	i ng 2011
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA
Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering	2009
University of Central Florida	Orlando, FL
RESEARCH EXPERIENCE	
Biorobotics Laboratory	2009–2014
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA
Heat Transfer and Technology Laboratory	2009
Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro	Rio de Janeiro, Brasil
Cardiovascular Research Laboratory	2007–2008
University of Central Florida	Orlando, FL
Muscle Physiology Laboratory	2008
University of California, San Diego	San Diego, CA
TEACHING EXPERIENCE	
Teaching Assistant	2010–2013
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA

PUBLICATIONS

Sans-Muntadas A, Duarte JE, Reinkensmeyer DJ. *Robot-Assisted Motor Training: Assistance Decreases Exploration During Reinforcement Learning*. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2014. In Press.

Duarte JE, Gebrekristos B, Perez S, Rowe JB, Sharp K, Reinkensmeyer DJ. *Effort, performance, and motivation: Insights from robot-assisted training of human golf putting and rat grip strength*. Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR), 2013 IEEE International Conference on, pp.1,6, 24-26 June 2013.

Zondervan DK, Duarte JE, Rowe JB, Reinkensmeyer DJ. *Time flies when you are in a groove: using entrainment to mechanical resonance to teach a desired movement distorts the perception of the movements timing*. Experimental Brain Research, 232(3), 1057-1070, 2014.

Duarte J, Salas FMA, Orlande HRB. *Modelagem Numerica de Cabos de Linhas de Transmissao de Energia*. Congresso Nacional de Engenharia Mecanica CONEM, 2010.

Rolland JP, Lee KS, Mahmood A, Fluck L, Duarte J, Kaya I, Santhanam A, Meemon P, Murali S, Ilegbusi O, Kupelian P, Warren WL, Molnar P, Hickman J, Kolattukudy P. *Collaborative Engineering: 3-D Optical Imaging and Gas Exchange Simulation of In-Vitro Alveolar Constructs*. Studies in Health Technology and Informatics, 132, 426-432, 2008.

HONORS AND AWARDS

Best Student Paper Award	2013
IEEE - International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics	Seattle, WA
Teaching Assisstant Award of Excellence	2013
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA
1st place - UCI Butterworth Product Development Competition	2013
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA
Eugene-Cota Robles Fellowship	2009,2013
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA
Miguel Velez Fellowship	2011,2012
University of California, Irvine	Irvine, CA

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Effects of Robotic Challenge Level on Motor Learning, Rehabilitation, and Motivation: The Real-World Challenge Point Framework

By

Jaime E. Duarte

Doctor of Philosophy in Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering

University of California, Irvine, 2014

David J. Reinkensmeyer, Chair

Robotic devices have emerged as promising solutions to support motor training in physical rehabilitation, surgery, and sports, but the optimal control strategies for robotic motor training are still unclear. This dissertation focuses on the development and evaluation of algorithms that modulate the challenge level experienced by a trainee in order to optimize training. Challenge level has been proposed to affect both motor learning and motivation, but these effects, in the context of robotic-based training, are not well understood. To understand these effects, we developed three novel experimental paradigms and studied motor learning of a complex motor skill in humans, and motor rehabilitation after spinal cord injury in a rat and in a non-human primate model.

The first experiment focused on motor learning in humans without impairment. We modulated the difficulty of a virtual golf task by either reducing or augmenting kinematic errors with a haptic robot while participants putted to two target locations. We found that the training conditions had mixed effects on learning, but significantly affected participants' subjective experiences of training. Specifically, robotically reducing errors improved self-reports of competence and satisfaction, while augmenting

xii

errors worsened reports. These effects persisted days after the robotic manipulations ceased, even when participants' performance returned to normal. These results indicate that robotic training can modulate, with lasting effects, the subjective experience of training.

The second experiment focused on hand motor rehabilitation after spinal cord injury in a rat model. We modulated the difficulty of a pulling task by controlling the force level required to achieve success. Rats trained either with constant, low forces, or with an adaptive algorithm that controlled the success rate to be 50%. We found that animals in the low-force group attempted more pulls and were more successful at achieving the task than animals in the adaptive group. However, animals in the adaptive group recovered more grip pulling strength, as evidenced by higher pulling forces in the assessments conducted throughout the rehabilitation process. Thus, the benefits of training at an adaptively-controlled, high-challenge level exceeded the benefits of increased numbers of practice repetitions achieved at a lower challenge level.

The third experiment focused on hand motor rehabilitation after spinal cord injury in a non-human primate model. We developed a robotic device that provides in-cage, self-training exercises for animals with a spinal cord injury that affects their ability to use the right hand. The device uses training algorithms that accommodate animals with a wide range of capabilities to ensure they can engage in training even after suffering a severe injury. We found that animals were able to train with the device both before and after the lesion by setting the appropriate difficulty level.

These findings lead us to propose the basis for a framework to understand the effect of challenge on performance gains and motivation during unsupervised learning for robotic-based motor training. This framework proposes that in environments where the trainee chooses training amounts, total learning is determined by the product of

xiii

two component relations: 1) the challenge level and training frequency, and 2) the challenge level and learning-gain per trained movement. Since the challenge level has opposite effects on these component relations, this product yields a parabolic relation between the challenge level and the learning-gain per training frequency. Thus we can find a challenge level where total learning is maximum. The challenge level corresponding to this maximum represents the optimal challenge level for unsupervised training. Robotic training devices provide a means to both identify this optimal challenge point and control the challenge level so that training can be carried out around that point.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Conceptual Framework of the Dissertation

Movement drives our interaction with the environment. From kicking a ball to reaching for a glass, our bodies constantly plan the appropriate commands and send the corresponding signals that drive this interaction. These commands and signals, however, can vary greatly from one execution to the next, even when the goal of the movement is the same. In fact, they can vary so much that as a society we value greatly the few people who can perform specific movements with high accuracy and precision as in the case of surgeons or athletes.

The process by which we acquire and develop the skills necessary for the execution of a movement is called motor learning. In this process–critical in any occupation that requires skillful performance–neural connections are reshaped to improve the generation and transmission of signals between the central nervous system and those muscles involved in the movement. Although the specific details of how the neural circuitry is reshaped are not known, we do know that a great number of repetitions– involving as many as 10,000 hours of deliberate motor training [31]-are needed before mastering a given motor skill.

The importance of a high-volume of repetitions in motor training means there must also be a high degree of motivation by the trainee that partakes in the training. An important factor that affects the motivation to participate in training, as well as the gains derived from this training, is the level of challenge experienced during training. Training programs in which tasks are too difficult can lead to frustration and diminished levels of self-efficacy and motivation. On the other hand, tasks that are too easy will not be engaging and lead to low adherence rates.

This dissertation focuses on the development and evaluation of algorithms that modulate the challenge level experience by a trainee in order to optimize training. We will explore both motor learning and rehabilitation paradigms in human and animal models.

1.2 Rehabilitation of the upper extremity

As of 2013, an estimated 273,000 people in the United States are alive today with spinal cord injury (SCI). Since 2010, more than 50% of the injuries have led to loss of control of the upper extremities due to partial (40.6%) or complete (10.6%) injury to the cervical region of the spinal cord (tetraplegia) [18]. For these individuals, recovery of hand function is the top priority when compared to restoration of sexual function, trunk stability, walking and other needs [6]. Other neurological injuries, such as stroke, and traumatic brain injuries may also have significant impacts in a person's ability to use his or her hands. In the United States alone, there are more than 7 million stroke survivors [95]. The quick onset of these injuries can have significant

effects on the quality of life of patients who–from one day do the next–are in some cases unable to perform basic everyday activities.

An injury to the motor system, such as a stroke or spinal cord injury, affects the neurological circuitry involved in the execution of movement. In the case of a stroke, the injury can take place where these signals originate and therefore the signals are not properly generated, and the injury can also destroy the white matter tracts that transmit the signal to the muscles. In the case of a spinal cord injury, the signals are properly generated, but the transmission of the signal is compromised in the spinal cord and the quality of the signal is diminished, or in some cases completely blocked. In either case, following the injury, patients must re-learn how to execute movements relying only on the spared circuitry and transmission pathways.

Following an initial period after the injury in which unique plasticity mechanisms triggered by the injury contribute to neural reorganization (so called 'spontaneous recovery' [101]; [33]; [13]), the re-learning process required to recover motor function is similar to the process originally carried out in the acquisition of a motor skill [23]. To improve recovery, rehabilitation programs then require individuals to actively engage in high-volume training where they are asked to perform hundreds, or even thousands, of repetitions of a given movement using the impaired limb. Results from a randomized control trial on humans suggests that as much as 6 hours of rehabilitation training per day is needed to reach significant recovery [118]. Contrary to this need, however, patients with hemiparesis or hemipleiga (i.e. weakness or paralysis of one side of the body, respectively), will tend to favor–sometimes completely–their unimpaired hand. This response to the injury may at times even lead into a behavior known as learned non-use whereby a patient's impaired hand loses even more functionality due to a lack of use[107]. A critical component in the recovery process thus lies in a patient's willingness to use the impaired limbs.

3

1.3 Use of robots in rehabilitation and motor training

Robots provide significant advantages in the field of motor training over conventional training approaches. Two key advantages are: 1) increased intensity and volume of training, and 2) high degree of quantification during training.

In rehabilitation, trainees must go through intense and high-volume training in order to recover movement after a neurological injury. However, physical rehabilitation can be a very labor-intensive process, sometimes–as in the case of gait training for a person with a severe gait disability–requiring multiple therapists to administer a single session. With today's aging population and an increasing number of neurological injuries, there is an insufficient supply of therapists to appropriately address the therapy needs of patients. One of the major goals of using robots in physical therapy is to decrease the workload on therapists by creating training programs that minimize the supervision needed thus providing more patients with the intensity and volume of rehabilitation training needed for recovery.

An important component in any motor training program is the ability to accurately and consistently assess the improvements and overall progression of the trainee. Regarding accuracy, current assessments are, for the most part, behaviorally-based and subjective. These tests, such as the box and blocks in humans, or the BBB test in the rodents [14], provide high-level measures (e.g. number of blocks moved from one container to another) of a limb's functionality. These assessments, although appropriate at assessing overall functionality, may lack the resolution to appropriately measure the effects of a given therapy on a patient. This lack of resolution can lead to interventions that are incorrectly deemed ineffective. Regarding consistency, these types of assessments often need to be carried out by expert therapists or trainers in order to reduce the variability associated with the measurement. Robots, with their built-in sensors, can serve as important tools to improve the accuracy and consistency in quantifying recovery [53]. They can provide measurements at higher resolutions (e.g. three-dimensional kinematic trajectories) and with lower variability between assessments. The use of robotics, coupled with other technologies such as neuroimaging and pharmaceutical interventions, will lead to a better understanding of the mechanisms involved in rehabilitation after a neurological injury [23].

Similar to rehabilitation, motor training of healthy individuals can be very laborintensive, requiring a significant involvement by coaches and/or trainers to prepare people in fields such as surgery, athletics, or music to excel in their performance. In addition to this, the quality of the feedback given about performance is directly dependent on the quality of the coach or trainer. The use of robots as tools for motor training can provide advantages both in the quality and quantity of training. The ease-of-access to computers and the decrease in the production cost of sensors and actuators means that robots-both simple and complex-will be readily available to supply the demand for effective quantification of performance. This trend is already apparent in the consumer electronics market with the proliferation of activity trackers that measure parameters such as the number of steps we take in a day to the movements executed in a round of golf. And we are also seeing this trend from groups such as the Computational Interaction and Robotics Laboratory out of Johns Hopkins University who are working to improve and speed-up the training of surgeons using robotic-based approaches [88].

The first part of this work focuses on the development of novel robot-based training paradigms that enhance motor learning in humans. We now know that practice of a motor task drives adaptation of the neural networks involved in its performance [48]. Significant changes in cortical representation have been observed for stroke patients, for example, after constraint-induced therapy [58]. Furthermore, evidence

5

suggests that similar mechanisms are at play both during the initial learning of a motor skill and the re-learning process following neurological injury [23]. Understanding the mechanisms involved in the acquisition of motor skills will lead to training algorithms that improve motivation, performance, and retention following a robotic intervention.

1.4 Animal models and robotic rehabilitation

The study of animal models is of great importance in the field of robotic rehabilitation. These models allow studies with consistent injury types and interventions in controlled laboratory settings [23], [80] and allow invasive techniques to understand mechanisms of recovery; something not feasible with humans. Interventions can range from physical rehabilitation to pharmacological agents to regenerative treatments [81], [106] and are, for the most part, based on rodent and non-human primate models. These two models are used because they provide a simplified version of the human central nervous system while keeping important similarities with humans.

Potential treatments are first tested on rodent models. Those which prove successful are ideally, but not always, then tested on non-human primate models before going on to clinical trials with humans. It is important to go through the non-human primate model in order to gain insight into the dosage increases and potential side-effects before moving on to the human population [20]. For more complete insight into the importance of animal models, including the advantages and disadvantages, in studying neurological trauma, please refer to [15] and [56]. As with humans, robotic devices are now being used in the rehabilitation of animals following neurological injury. This is a fairly new field of research where most robotic devices have focused on the rehabilitation of gait in rodent models after spinal cord injury [89]; [34]; [79]. Robotic devices have now started to be used for training of the upper extremity following injury with animal models. For example, Spalletti recently reported on a robotic device to study rehabilitation following an induced ischemic lesion on a rodent model [104]. The advantages of using robots for rehabilitation with animal models are similar to those in humans. Namely, they allow for high dosages of training with high-resolution measures of recovery. This, complemented with the benefits of consistent lesions in highly controlled laboratory environments, presents great potential for the development of therapies for clinical trials.

1.5 Outline of this document

This dissertation focuses on understanding the relationship between the difficulty level of a training task and its effects on motor learning and motivation. These relationships were studied using three robotic-based approaches with models of motor learning and neurorehabilitation in humans and animal models.

- 1. The first experiment focused on motor learning for humans who trained in a virtual game of golf putting.
- 2. The second experiment targeted the rehabilitation of grip strength for rats following injury to the spinal cord using a novel device called the Robotic Rehabilitator for the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE).

3. The final experiment focused on the rehabilitation of hand function for monkeys following injury to the spinal cord using a novel device called the Bimanual Vending Machine (BVM).

Chapter 2 represents preliminary results for the first two experiments: 1) error-based training algorithms and their effects on motivation and performance for a virtual golf putting task, and 2) performance-based algorithms and their effects on motivation and performance when training grip strength in a rodent model after injury to the spinal cord. This work laid the foundation for the central theme of this dissertation: the Real-World Challenge Point Framework. This was presented in the IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics 2013 (ICORR 2013) where it received the Best Student Paper award.

Chapter 3 presents the complete results of the virtual golf experiment. It provides a full description of the methodology used in the experiment, as well as additional results beyond those presented in Chapter 2. A key theme is how altering subjects' performance errors, either by reducing or amplifying them, impacts their performance, motor learning, and motivation while performing the task.

Chapter 4, presents the results of RUE as an assessment tool. It also provides details of a spinal cord injury's effect on performance at this novel task. Furthermore, it describes the advantages of robotic-based assessments for assessing the pulling strength of rats using self-initiated, volitional, movements. This chapter shows that this method provides the resolution necessary to assess the functional task of pulling both before and after a cervical lesion to the spinal cord.

Chapter 5 expands on the results presented on Chapter 2. Whereas chapter 2 was a preliminary analysis of the first 120 days of training following injury, this chapter presents the data for more than 200 days of training following injury. It further an-

8

alyzes the effects that the difficulty level of the task had on both the motivation and the recovery of the animals following injury. We present the basis for a framework to understand the effect of challenge during unsupervised learning, including the predicted level of difficulty that optimizes recovery for this rat model of SCI.

Finally, Chapter 6 discusses the Bimanual Vending Machine, a robotic device designed to provide in-cage, automatic therapy for non-human primates. This work is part of a collaboration with the UC primate consortium - a group of scientists from UC San Diego, UC San Francisco, UC Los Angeles, UC Davis, and UC Irvine whose work focuses on testing promising spinal cord regeneration techniques using a non-human primate model of spinal cord injury. The goal of this project is to provide intense rehabilitation to animals receiving regenerative treatments for recovery following a spinal cord injury while constantly monitoring and quantifying their performance and recovery. We present results showing how the device is effective for training naive animals on a pulling movement. These results also include successful cases of animals that have been trained both pre- and post-lesion.

Finally, Chapter 7 reviews the main contributions of this dissertation to the field of robotic rehabilitation.

Chapter 2

Effort, performance, and motivation: Insights from robot-assisted training of human golf putting and rat grip strength

Jaime E. Duarte, Berkenesh Gebrekristos, Sergi Perez, Justin B. Rowe, Kelli Sharp, David J. Reinkensmeyer

2.1 Abstract

Robotic devices can modulate success rates and required effort levels during motor training, but it is unclear how this affects performance gains and motivation. Here we present results from training unimpaired humans in a virtual golf-putting task, and training spinal cord injured (SCI) rats in a grip strength task using robotically modulated success rates and effort levels. Robotic assistance in golf practice increased trainees feelings of competence, and, paradoxically, increased their sense effort, even though it had mixed effects on learning. Reducing effort during a grip strength training task led rats with SCI to practice the task more frequently. However, the more frequent practice of these rats did not cause them to exceed the strength gains achieved by rats that exercised less often at higher required effort levels. These results show that increasing success and decreasing effort with robots increases motivation, but has mixed effects on performance gains.

2.2 Introduction

Robotic devices that are designed for motor training and rehabilitation can assist their users in achieving desired tasks, such as when they implement assist-as-needed or patient-cooperative training strategies. They can also make tasks more difficult, such as when they implement error augmentation or challenge-as-needed strategies [110], [68], [76]. A complex picture is emerging as to how these strategies affect motor gains. In some cases, these strategies have been found to have no incremental benefit on motor learning or rehabilitation, or even to be detrimental, while in others they seem to aid it [93]. A little-studied aspect of robot-enhanced training is its effect on motivation. Patients sometimes remark that they are motivated by assistance [92], but this increased motivation has not been well quantified. Understanding how human-robot interaction affects motivation is important for understanding the mechanism of performance gains achieved during training, as motivation influences learning [77], [24]. It is also important for understanding how robotic devices might actually be used in the 'real world', in which users are less constrained with respect to how often they must practice with a robotic device compared to laboratory tests that carefully control practice amounts.

Here we report preliminary results from two experiments in which we robotically modulated success rates and effort levels and quantified the effect on motivation and performance gains. In the first experiment we studied how unimpaired trainees responded to error-reducing or error-enhancing force fields in a virtual golf-putting task, using questions from the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory to assess motivation and effort and putt variability to assess performance gains. In the second experiment, we studied how frequently rats with a SCI self-trained their grip function in a robotic strength training task, when the force required by the task was either large or small. We used the number of attempts at the task in a fixed period as a marker of motivation, and quantified performance gains in terms of the strength gained after training.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Virtual golf putting training for humans

Subjects

Thirty healthy subjects (age 20-30, 8 females, 1 left-handed) with no history of neurologic disorders participated in the experiment. Each participant provided written informed consent in accordance with a protocol approved by the University of California-Irvine's Institutional Review Board.

Experimental apparatus and robot-generated dynamic environments

Subjects interacted with a three degrees-of-freedom lightweight haptic robot (PHAN-ToM 3.0 Premium, Sensable Technologies, Inc) through a handle. The robot handle attached to the robot arm through a passive 3DOF gimbals. Subjects controlled a virtual golf club head by moving the handle with the right hand. Motion of the robot arm was constrained to one dimension (left-right with respect to the subject) via software. The robot was used to apply forces to the subjects hand and record the position and velocity of the hand at a sample rate of 1000Hz.

The golf game was designed so that the velocity at which the club crossed the starting position during the downswing (defined as the impact velocity) determined the distance traveled by the ball on the screen. Note that compared to actual putting this design removed the effects of variability in the putting surface and variability in the location and angle of the putter face at impact. The goal was to simplify putting dynamics so that impact velocity uniquely determined putt distance.

The robot was programmed to provide dynamic environments in which a subjects impact velocity errors could be haptically reduced or amplified, or used in its backdriveable mode. In the haptic error-reduction training (ER) condition, the robot decreased velocity errors proportional to the predicted error for each putt. In the haptic error-amplification (EA) training condition, the robot increased the velocity errors proportionally to the predicted error. Subjects in the control group (CTRL) experienced no forces from the robot during training. The force field was defined as follows:

$$F_{x} = \begin{cases} -B_{ER}\dot{x} & \text{error-reduction} \\ B_{EA}\dot{x} & \text{error-amplification} \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

The gains used, B_{ER} and B_{EA} , were constant for all subjects and equal to $3.3\frac{Ns}{m}$ and $3.5\frac{Ns}{m}$ for the short and long targets in the error-reducing condition, respectively, and $1.5\frac{Ns}{m}$ and $1.6\frac{Ns}{m}$ for the error-amplification condition. These gains were chosen after pilot testing with several subjects so that the resulting force field significantly decreased or increased impact velocity errors while being qualitatively unnoticeable to subjects. The goal was to produce a dynamic environment in which subjects did not create a model specific to the haptic robot but rather a model of their arm [51]. The swing for this task can be divided into three main parts: backswing, downswing, and follow-through. Forces were applied only during the downswing by decreasing or increasing velocity errors proportional to the predicted error during the downswing for each putt. The error during downswing was calculated with respect to a target trajectory in the phase space of the swing.

The effect of this algorithm was to define for each putt a target trajectory that began at the actual maximum backswing length of the subject (at which point the head velocity was zero), and then move to the location of the virtual ball with a head velocity equal to the target impact velocity that would cause the ball to move to the center of the selected target (i.e. the short or long target).

Experimental protocol

Subjects were instructed on how to perform a putting-like motion (i.e. an appropriate backswing followed by a smooth downswing and follow through) to play the virtual golf game. The objective of the game was to impact the ball so that it would reach the center of one of two target locations: short or long (requiring an impact velocity of $1.12\frac{m}{s}$ and $1.65\frac{m}{s}$ respectively). A trial consisted of first placing the cursor on a predefined starting position a blue rectangle shown on the screen and then performing the



Figure 2.1: **Graphical interface of the virtual golf game** - Participants manipulated the head of a virtual golf putter by means of a 3DOF haptic robot. The objective of the game was for participants to hit the virtual golf ball to the center of the hole shown in the screen. The starting position for each swing was the same, however, the distance of the hole was set to either a short or long distance depending on the current phase of the experiment. A total score based on the distance error from the center of the hole and the number of consecutively made putts was also shown during game play.

putting-like motion. Once the club was held at this position for one second, a golf ball appeared on the screen directly in front of the cursor. The subject then performed the swing to impact the ball.

The experiment was conducted on two separate days for every subject. On Day 1, initial practice day, subjects were asked to perform a total of 100 putts, 50 to each target location. The target locations were randomized prior to the experiment. All subjects were presented with the same randomized order of targets. The purpose of the initial practice day was twofold: (1) familiarize subjects with the task in order to minimize practice effects, and (2) provide an initial putting skill measure that was then used to divide subjects into three training groups with matched average initial performance. This was achieved by ranking the 30 subjects based on their putting performance (defined as their average mean squared error of impact velocity) on Day 1, and then sequentially randomizing the ordered subjects into blocks of three into each training group.

Day 2, training day, was performed 2 to 3 weeks after day 1. It consisted of a total of 170 putts. Although subjects were not told, the 170 trials were divided into three phases: baseline assessment (40 trials), training (90 trials), and short-term retention (40 trials). The target location was randomized for the baseline and short-term retention phases. For the training phase, the same target location was presented in three consecutive trials to allow subjects to adjust their putts based on their performance. This pattern of three putts to the same distance was repeated 30 times during the 90 training trials. Throughout training, participants were asked questions taken from the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI). These questions aimed at assessing the participants perceived levels of effort and performance throughout the task [96]. During Day 2, subjects were asked to answer these questions once during baseline (after trial 20), twice during training (after trials 60 and 100), and twice during short-term

retention (after trial 140 and trial 170, the end of training). These trials were chosen so as to not interfere with the transitions from baseline to training and training to short-term retention while allowing participants enough time to experience each phase.

Data analysis

We were interested in the effects of training in a haptically enhanced environment on the variability of the impact velocity. We therefore quantified performance as the variance in the impact velocity of the virtual golf ball. Previous studies have shown that highly skilled putters are less variable in their impact velocity, even though mean velocities are similar for less and more highly skilled golfers. This variability also increases with target distance [57]. We defined the variability reduction due to training as the ratio of variability at short-term assessment on Day 2 to baseline variability on Day 2. ANOVA tests were conducted between groups on the different training phases with the significance level set to $\alpha = 0.05$. We were also interested in the effects that modulating participants success rates would have on their perceived levels of efforts and competence. This was quantified using questions from the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory. We used a relative scale in which we subtracted each participants response during training and short-term retention from his or her responses at baseline. The Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted between groups for each question with the significance level set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

2.3.2 Automatic Grip-Strength (autoGSM) training for rats

Subjects

Sixteen Sprague Dawley rats were used for this study. Rats were initially handled for about 3 weeks prior to the beginning of training in order to get them accustomed to human touch. Rats were placed on a food-restricted diet where they received 85% of the normal amount of food in order to motivate them to perform the training task.

Experimental apparatus

A robotic grip strength device was designed and implemented in order to measure and train the ability of rats to use their right forepaw in a pulling task. This device, known as the Automatic Grip Strength Meter (auto-GSM), is a 1 DOF robot consisting of a linear actuator and an automatic food dispenser. The rats interact with the robot by means of a metallic bar that holds a food reward on one of its ends. An acrylic glass box was designed to serve as the training ground for the rat as it allows for easy monitoring of the rat behavior with minimal interference on its behavior. The linear actuator serves as a linear spring that the rats must pull towards themselves in order to reach the food reward. When the spring is at rest the food reward sits behind the acrylic box out of reach from the animal. The device simulates a commonly used test to assess grip strength on rats, the Grip Strength Meter (GSM). This experimental setup allows for testing a volitional task where the animal is motivated to pull the bar until the food is within reach. For more details on theGSM and the robotic device see [85].

The autoGSM robot was programmed to work as a linear spring governed by the equation $F = k\Delta x$. Rats interacted with the robot by means of a metallic bar placed

at the front of the acrylic box. In its rest state ($\Delta x = 0$), the bar came into the box just enough to allow the rats to hold on to it. On the other end of the bar a food tray was placed that housed chocolate food pellets. The rats were trained to pull the bar with their forelimbs until the food pellet was within reach ($\Delta x = \Delta x_{desired}$). Once the bar was pulled far enough, the linear actuator locked the bar in place to allow the animals enough time to retrieve the food reward. If the rat was unable to pull the bar far enough to reach $\Delta x_{desired}$ the linear actuator snapped back into its resting position. A single trial consisted of the rat approaching the metallic bar, pulling it and either reaching $\Delta x_{desired}$ or not. A successful trial was defined as being able to reach the desired pulling length. Trials where the rat started to pull but was not able to reach the desired pulling length were considered unsuccessful.

Rats were placed into one of two training groups: control or autoGSM. In the control group, the stiffness of the spring was set to be as low as possible. This value was determined to be the minimum force needed for the metallic bar to pull away from the animal if the animal did not pull on it. In the autoGSM group, an adaptive algorithm was used to determine the stiffness of the spring. This algorithm, developed by Spencer [105], increased the stiffness value by a set amount δ when a successful pull was achieved and decreased the stiffness value by a value $\delta \times \alpha$ when the trial was unsuccessful. This algorithm seeks to adapt the spring force in order to have the animal pull at its maximum force by the end of each training session.

Rats were surgically intervened to have a unilateral contusion on the fifth cervical vertebra (C5). A contusion of 100kdynes was delivered using an Infinite Horizons Impactor (Precision Systems & Instrumentation, Lexington, KY). This type of injury is one of the most clinically relevant models as it simulates a hit to the spinal cord similar to those experienced in car accidents and sporting injuries. Animals were hit ipsilateral

to their dominant paw. All surgical procedures were conducted in accordance with IACUC recommendations.

Experimental protocol

Rats were trained twice a week according to their training group condition. A training session involved placing the rat in the acrylic box and allowing it to pull 5 times with no resistance in the bar prior to training with any forces from the robotic device. This was done in order to remind the rat that pulling the bar led to a food reward. After these initial 5 trials the spring force was activated and the rat began training. A training session was deemed completed if either the animal reached a total of 30 pulls or if 3 minutes had elapsed. Previous experiments from the group had shown these to be appropriate stopping criteria for healthy animals. Once a week, on a day different than the training days, the rats maximum force was tested. Similarly to the training days, rats were allowed to pull 5 times with no resistance before testing. After these 5 pulls testing begun. Testing was done by increasing the stiffness of the spring to a very high value, one with which the animals could not realistically complete the pull. This allowed us to efficiently assess the rats maximum volitional pulling strength. A testing session was deemed complete after three pulling attempts. The maximum force for a given testing session was defined as the maximum value achieved in the three attempts.

Data analysis

We were interested in the effects that modulating the required effort level would have on the rats ability and willingness to pull following injury to the spinal cord. We quantified this by measuring both the number of pulls attempted and the number

Linear Actuator

Acrylic Box

Food Tray Pulling Bar

Figure 2.2: **Robotic training setup for the rats** - [Top] Computer, linear actuator, food dispenser, and acrylic glass box that comprise the full setup. [Bottom] View from the top of the acrylic glass box. This picture shows the required movement from the rat as well as the placement of the food tray on the pulling bar. In its retracted state, the food tray is out of the reach of the rat. The rat is then required to pull the bar to bring the food pellets within reach. Note the geometry of the bar used to ensure that
of successful pulls in a single training session. ANOVA tests were conducted on data from single training sessions at a significance level of $\alpha = 0$: 05. We were also interested in the effects that training with higher force values would have on the rats volitional maximum grip strength following injury. We quantified this during testing days as previously described. ANOVA tests were conducted on data from single testing sessions at a significance level of $\alpha = 0$: 05.

2.4 Results

We studied the effects of robotically modulating participants success rates and required effort levels on their motivation and performance gains. In humans for the virtual golf putting task, we found that decreasing the difficulty of the task by reducing execution errors led to higher feelings of satisfaction and effort, but with mixed effects on actual performance gains. In rats, we found that decreasing the difficulty of the task by reducing the required effort level led the animals to perform the task much more frequently, but this more frequent training did not increase their strength gains.

2.4.1 Human virtual golf putting

We compared how the responses of participants to specific questions from the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory changed as they went through the different phases of game play: baseline, training, and short-term retention (Figure 2.3). We asked participants to rate, on a scale from 1 to 7, with 7 being the highest, the statement: 'I am satisfied with my performance at this task'. Relative to their baseline responses, participants feeling of satisfaction were significantly different once the force field was turned on (Break 2: Kruskal-Wallis, $\chi^2(2,27) = 11.1$, p = 0.004) and through training (Break 3: Kruskal-Wallis, $\chi^2(2,27) = 11.9$, p = 0.003) and the beginning of short-term retention (Break 4: Kruskal-Wallis, $\chi^2(2,27) = 15$, p < 0.001). At the end of the short-term retention phase the difference was close to being significant (Break 5: Kruskal-Wallis, $\chi^2(2,27) = 5.2$, p = 0 : 076). Those in the error-reduction group showed the highest levels of satisfaction with their performance while those in the error-amplification group showed the lowest. Additionally, we asked participants to assess their perceived level of effort by scoring, from 1 to 7, with 7 being the highest, the statement: 'I put a lot of effort into this'. Relative to their baseline scores, participants perceived levels of effort were close to being significantly different towards the end of training (Break 3: Kruskal-Wallis, $\chi^2(2,27) = 5.1$, p = 0 : 08) and they become significantly different at the beginning of the short-term retention phase (Break 4: Kruskal-Wallis, $\chi^2(2,27) = 5.7$, p = 0 : 05). Those in the error-reduction group consistently showed higher perceived level levels of effort than the other two groups.

During training, variability in the impact velocity was significantly different between training groups for both the short (See figure 2.4, ANOVA, F(2, 27) = 30.1, p < 0.001), and long (ANOVA, F(2, 27) = 46.7, p < 0.001) target locations, confirming that the robotic force fields either substantially decreased or increased putting errors depending on the type of force field experienced. To assess performance gains in the putting game, we compared participants impact velocity variability following training in the force fields, using a 10-sample moving average of the variance in order to gain a better understanding of the temporal patterns of the variability across training groups. For the short target, subjects in the error-reduction and error-amplification groups performed significantly better (ANOVA, p < 0.05) than the control group during the beginning and middle portion of the short-term retention phase. For the long target, all groups performed at the same level during the beginning and middle portion of the short-term retention apparent towards the end



Figure 2.3: **Response to two of the questions in the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI)** - Responses were gathered as the golf participants went from training with no forces (baseline), training with forces (training), and finally training with no forces again (short-term retention). (a) To the question 'I am satisfied with my performance at this task' participants in the error-reduction (ER) group show a significantly higher level of self-efficacy compared to those who trained with no robotic intervention (Control) or error-amplifying (EA) forces both during training as well as after training where their performance is not as good. (b) To the question 'I put a lot of effort into this' participants in the ER group present higher levels of perceived effort even though during training the robot was significantly lowering the level of difficulty of the task.

of the assessment when the error-reduction group performed worse than the other groups.



Figure 2.4: **Variability in impact velocity in the virtual golf task.** - This figure shows the average variability of the last 10 trials at baseline, the average variability across all trials during training, and a moving average of the variability during short-term retention. During baseline the three groups performed at similar levels. Once the robotic forces were turned on, those in the EA group experienced haptically-increased errors which led to significantly higher variability for both target locations. Those in the ER group experienced haptically-reduced errors which led to significantly lower variability for both target locations. Those in the Control group show improvements due to regular training. Following the removal of the force field, those in the EA and ER groups performed significantly better than the Control group at the short target (a), but this difference was gone by the end of the short-term retention. For the long target (b) all three groups initially performed at comparable levels once the force field was removed. However, those in the ER group tended to perform slightly worse with the difference becoming significant towards the end of the short-term retention assessment.

2.4.2 Rat grip-strength training

We compared rats willingness to pull the bar before spinal cord injury, following SCI and before and after separating them into two training groups one that trained at higher levels of force (the autoGSM group), and one at lower levels of force (the control group). Willingness to pull was measured as the number of pulls in a one minute test period. Prior to being divided into the control and autoGSM groups both groups pulled at comparable frequencies and with similar success (Figure 2.5). Following injury, both groups significantly decreased by a comparable amount in their willingness to pull the bar. Once the rats were divided into the two training groups, those allowed to pull with lower forces (the control group) had a significantly higher number of pulls and successful pulls than those training with higher forces (autoGSM) (Figure 2.5) (ANOVA, p < 0.05). Regarding the strength training of the rats forelimbs, the group that trained with the higher forces consistently showed higher maximum force output, but these differences were not significant for any particular day of testing (Figure 2.5c).

2.5 Discussion

For the virtual golf task, we used a robotic device to either substantially reduce or increase putting errors. There was a clear effect of these robotic interventions on the subjects satisfaction with their performance: robotically decreasing putting errors improved satisfaction, while robotically increasing putting errors decreased satisfaction. Paradoxically, subjects who experienced robotically increased success also reported an increased sense of effort at the task. In terms of actual performance gains, training with error reduction marginally improved short-term retention for short putts, but



Figure 2.5: **Pulling and maximum forces data for the rats** - The rats had been trained on the pulling task for more than 70 days prior to the injury. After the injury the number of pulls tried was significantly lower (a) and the number of successful pulls goes to zero for all animals. The rats where trained for a few weeks until pulling became somewhat consistent again. At this time, they were separated into two groups: Control and autoGSM. Animals in the Control group trained at substantially lower force levels than those in the autoGSM group. Once the animals were separated, those in the Control group where willing to pull more often (a) and achieved significantly higher success at pulling (b) than those in the autoGSM. However, even after many weeks of training at different force levels, the maximum force generated by the two groups (c) was not significantly different in a single testing day.

degraded it for long putts, even though trainees were more satisfied with their performance. Training with error augmentation produced better performance for both short and long putts, even though trainees were less satisfied with their performance.

For the rat grip strength training task, injury of the spinal cord dramatically decreased the rats motivation to perform the task. Rats who were then permitted to train at the task with lower forces performed the task significantly more frequently, compared to rats who were required to pull forces near their maximum capability. Their increased frequency of training was not enough, however, to overtake the performance gains achieved by the rats pulling with more force but fewer times. A recent study by van der Brand et al. [111] showed that a training paradigm that encouraged rat participation (high motivation) triggered higher levels of plasticity and recovery of voluntary control compared to automated training (low motivation) for locomotion in rats with a spinal cord injury.

These were disparate experiments, but they produced compatible results, suggesting they may relate to a general principle of robot-assisted motor training. Enhancing motor performance with robots by using them to decrease task errors (as in the golf task) or to decrease the effort required to do the task (as in the grip training task) can increase motivation. On the other hand, practicing with robot assistance has variable effects on the performance gains experienced with training. Robots may thus serve a key role in motivating practice in the real world, although care must be given so that they do not impair performance gains.

Chapter 3

Effects of robotically modulating kinematic variability on motor skill learning and motivation

Jaime E. Duarte and David J. Reinkensmeyer

3.1 Abstract

It is unclear how the variability of kinematic errors experienced during training affects motor skill retention and motivation for training. We randomized 30 healthy adults into three groups and modulated their kinematic variability during practice of a virtual simulation of golf putting using a haptic robot. We used either haptic error reduction (ER), haptic error augmentation (EA), or practice without haptic input (control training) as participants putted to a short and a long target at a baseline session, a training session when the robotic manipulation was applied, and a long-term retention session on three separate days. We quantified motor skill as the variability in impact velocity, and motivation using a self-reported, standardized scale. For the short target, both error manipulation strategies improved short-term performance, while only ER training improved long-term performance. For the long target, ER training degraded short term performance, but joined EA training in promoting long-term performance because the ER group exhibited substantially greater off-line learning. In terms of motivation, ER training improved self-reports of competence and satisfaction, while EA training worsened these self-reports, as well as enjoyment. The EA motivational effects persisted 1-3 days after training despite the similarity of the skill of this group to the ER group. In summary, either reducing or augmenting variability during training mostly positively affected putting skill learning by a small amount. Reducing variability transiently enhanced motivation, while augmenting variability persistently decreased motivation.

3.2 Introduction

The effective integration of robotic systems in motor skill training and neurorehabilitation requires an improved understanding of the learning mechanisms used by the human motor system when it interacts with these systems. These learning mechanisms involve both motor performance aspects and the psychological experience of the training; these two factors likely interact. Two prominent strategies for roboticassisted training have emerged, both based on the manipulation of kinematic errors: error reduction (ER; also known as haptic guidance), and error augmentation (EA) (see review, [69]). However, the conditions under which these strategies work best, and the learning and motivation mechanisms they stimulate, are at present unclear. Haptic guidance reduces a person's kinematic errors during training to improve motor learning. Different forms of haptic guidance have been developed ([59]; [16]; [110]; [62], [63]; [70]), but most of them share the goal of teaching task-related proprioceptive and/or visual cues by allowing individuals to experience the ideal feel and look of a task. Experiments testing the efficacy of haptic guidance in improving motor performance have produced mixed results. Although there have been studies verifying that haptic guidance can improve the learning of both spatial and temporal motor tasks ([16]; [68]; [76]; [62]; [70]), other studies have shown that haptic guidance provides no significant benefits when compared to either visual demonstration or unassisted training ([114];[110]; [32]; [59]).

The Guidance Hypothesis provides one possible theoretical framework for understanding why haptic guidance might in some cases inhibit the motor learning process. This hypothesis states that providing too much information during movement training causes the motor system to depend on the information; once the information is removed, then, the motor system will not have learned how to solve the problem independently ([98]). Consistent with this framework, recent models describing how the motor system adapts to account for novel dynamic environments suggest that the process is driven by a minimization of task error and control effort with a larger emphasis being placed on the minimization of error for short term changes ([29]; [57]). Reducing or eliminating task errors with haptic guidance could inhibit one of the primary teaching signals driving the adaptive learning process.

Despite the uncertainty about how haptic guidance can best be applied, commercial machines have been developed to show people how their movements should 'feel'. For example, in the sport of golf, the Top Swing golf robot (SwingAssist Worldwide) was designed to create for trainees a physical example of their ideal golf swing. Part of the marketing strategy for the device includes the idea that: 'If a picture is worth

100 words then a sensation is worth 10,000!'. Another example, the RoboPutt (Robo Innovations, Inc) has been created as a 'vending machine for putting lessons'; this device is also based on the premise that haptically guiding someone through an ideal swing will improve his or her putt swing. A simpler example is the Putting Guide, a device that restricts the motion of the putter head into a channel. It is unclear however if the haptic guidance provided by such devices is appropriate for improving a golf swing.

In contrast to ER strategies, EA training is based on the idea that motor learning is an error-driven process rather than a correct-feedback driven process. Thus, increasing kinematic errors during the execution of a motor task should enhance the motor learning process by causing the motor system to respond more strongly or faster ([84]; [30]). Increased error could also enhance attentional mechanisms, or invoke adaptive impedance control mechanisms for reducing kinematic error ([36]). Training with EA has been found to improve trajectory straightness in reaching ([19]), as well as the timing of a pinball task for more highly skilled trainees ([76]). One study that examined training of balance on a beam, however, found no benefits from EA training in improving short-term learning ([25]).

Important, but less-well studied, aspects of robot-assisted motor training are the effect of the intervention on motivation and retention. Stroke patients who received robot-assisted therapy using an ER strategy reported that such therapy was motivating ([43]), in part because of the improved self-efficacy accomplished with physical assistance ([92]). Sport psychology studies have found that positive feedback increases participants' intrinsic motivation and feelings of self-efficacy for a given training program, and can improve motor learning ([10]; [97]; [113]). The experience of success can also improve consolidation in motor learning ([109]).

For this study we chose an engaging and well-known task-golf putting-to study the relative merits of ER and EA training as compared to normal practice. We were specifically interested in how these training strategies affected learning and motivation when trainees were relatively well practiced at the task i.e. after the initial familiarization/learning curve had plateaued. Training approaches that enhanced motor learning in this stage would be useful. In this situation, we hypothesized that any benefits of ER training for learning 'the feel' of the task would be minimal since the trainees had already acquired the feel of the task, limiting the effectiveness of ER training, while EA training would still be beneficial. Specifically, we hypothesized that haptically reducing impact velocity errors would in this scenario hinder motor learning because it would prevent subjects from making and thus learning from those errors. On the other hand, we hypothesized that error-augmentation would be a beneficial training technique for teaching trainees to reduce variability in golf putting because it would provoke the motor system to learn to deal more effectively with errors.

We examined the role of ER and EA on the participants' perception of training using a self-reported motivation scale. We hypothesized that training with ER would increase their feelings of competence and self-efficacy, but would lead them to feel less engaged and to perceive that they exerted less effort while training. Conversely, we hypothesized that training with EA would decrease their feelings of competence and self-efficacy, but would lead them to feel more engaged and to perceive that they exerted more effort during training. Additionally, we quantified any possible motivational 'carry-over' effect at a long-term retention test, 1-3 days later, when no robotic forces were applied during performance. We hypothesized that any motivational effects from training with the force fields would wash out by the end of the last day of the experiment, for the final session during which participants performed the

putting task with no forces, instead reflecting actual performance experiences during that day. Portions of this work were reported previously in a conference paper ([26]).

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Participants

Thirty healthy participants (ages 20-30; 8 females) with no history of neurologic disorders completed the experiment. One participant was left-hand dominant. Each participant provided written informed consent in accordance with a protocol approved by the University of California-Irvine's Institutional Review Board.

3.3.2 Experimental apparatus and robot-generated dynamic environments

Participants were instructed how to play a game of virtual golf using a three degreesof-freedom lightweight haptic robot (PHANToM 3.0 Premium, Sensable Technologies, Inc). The robot handle attached to the robot arm through a passive 3 DOF gimbals (Figure 3.1 (left)). To play the game, seated participants controlled the head of a virtual golf club using their dominant hand to putt a virtual ball to either a short or long target. The haptic robot was used to record the position, velocity, and forces and to apply the prescribed forces during game play at 1000 Hz.

To decrease variability in putting style, motion of the robot was constrained, via software, to one dimension – a straight line in the x-axis parallel to the participant's shoulders just above waist height. The use of a virtual environment allowed us to also remove the variability due to the putting surface (a constant friction force was the only force acting on the virtual ball after impact), the quality of the impact (we assumed no energy loss during impact), and the angle of impact (the impact angle was always in a straight line to the hole). In this controlled environment, impact velocity alone determined the distance traveled by the ball. Speed control is an important parameter in many sporting activities, but has only been studied in one experiment in the context of robotic training to our knowledge ([70]).

A putt can be divided into three parts: backswing, downswing, and follow through (see Figure 3.1 (right)). Impact velocity was defined as the velocity at which the virtual club crossed the starting position (i.e. at the end of the downswing). A small and constant impulse, opposite to the direction of motion, was applied at impact to simulate the impact with the ball. The force fields used for training, described below, were active only during the downswing portion of the putt.

The robot was programmed to provide a dynamic environment in which participants' impact velocity errors were haptically reduced (ER), augmented (EA), or unaltered (control). In ER training, the robot decreased velocity errors proportional to the predicted error for each putt. In the EA condition, the robot increased velocity errors proportional to the predicted error. And in the control condition, the robot did not manipulate velocity errors during training. The force fields for the ER and EA training conditions were defined as:

$$F_{x} = \begin{cases} -B_{ER}\dot{x} & \text{error-reduction} \\ B_{EA}\dot{x} & \text{error-amplification} \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

The gains, B_{ER} and B_{EA} , were kept constant across all participants (ER: *shorttarget* = $0.0035(\frac{kgsm}{s})$, $longtarget = 0.003(\frac{kgsm}{s})$; EA: *shorttarget* = $-0.0016(\frac{kgsm}{s})$, longtarget = $-0.0015(\frac{kgsm}{s})$). These gains were chosen after pilot testing with several participants to find a force field that significantly decreased impact velocity errors while being qualitatively unnoticeable to participants. Throughout all phases of the experiment no instruction was given to the participants regarding their training condition. We wanted to produce an environment in which the participant attributed errors to their own performance and not the robot ([51]). Although we would have liked to assess participants' awareness of the training condition, questioning them at the end of training of Day 2 could have affected their performance on Day 3 and as such we refrained from doing this. The gains were set higher for the short target because the velocities required to perform the task were lower. Putting to the center of the hole required an impact velocity of $1.12\frac{m}{s}$ and $1.65\frac{m}{s}$, respectively, for the short and long targets. The long target location was, by design, inherently a more difficult task because it required a higher impact velocity than the shorter target.

To compute the velocity error for a given swing we developed an algorithm that generated a target trajectory in the phase space of the swing (Figure 3.1 (right)). The target trajectory was calculated as follows: (1) an ideal trajectory was defined using data from successful putts performed by several experienced participants in pilot testing; (2) the ideal trajectory was stored in a look-up table as x_{ideal} , \dot{x}_{ideal} pairs for the downswing; (3) a morphing factor m was defined to decrease linearly from 1 to 0 as a function of the position of the putter head during the downswing, with the value 1 defined at the peak of the backswing (i.e. start of the downswing), and the value 0 defined at the ball impact location. The target trajectory was then calculated using the following algorithm at the moment the putter reached its maximum backswing length x_{bsMax} :

```
forall the \dot{x}_{ideal} in the ideal trajectory table do

Access the x_{ideal} corresponding to \dot{x}_{ideal};

compute the target putter position x_{target} for this \dot{x}_{ideal} as

x_{target} = x_{ideal} - m(x_{bsIdeal} - x_{bsMax})
```

```
end
```

where $x_{bsIdeal}$ is the location of the putter head at the start of the ideal downswing trajectory, which is the first entry in the look-up table. The effect of the algorithm was to define, for each putt, a target trajectory that began at the onset of the downswing (right after the end of the backswing), at which point the head velocity was zero, and ended at the location of the virtual ball with the velocity equaling the desired impact velocity. This desired impact velocity was the velocity that would cause the ball to travel from its initial position to the center of the target. A scoring mechanism was used to further engage participants in the experiment. Participants were presented, on the same screen as the game (see 3.1 (left)), with the error in the last putt - defined as the percentage error from the ideal impact velocity - the mean error of the last 5 putts, and the mean error of all putts completed. They also saw their current streak counter defined as the number of consecutive putts that were within a 10% error from the center of the hole (i.e. 'sunk putts'), as well as the maximum streak they had achieved during that experimental session. A 'sunk putt' was also rewarded by playing the sound of a golf ball dropping inside of the hole. Although we defined a 'sunk putt' to be within a window of 10% error, participants were told to try to putt to the center of the hole.



Figure 3.1: **Experimental setup and force schematics** - Left: Experimental setup for a participant playing the virtual putting game. Participants controlled the head of a virtual putter by using a 3DOF haptic robot. The computer screen provided participants with visual feedback about their performance which included a scoring system and a streak counter. Right: Two sample trajectories - one for the short target, and one for the long target - in the velocity vs. position (state-space) domain. The subcomponents of the swing are labeled as backswing, downswing, and follow-through. The arrows around the long target represent the ER force field, while the arrows around the short target represent the EA force field. The force fields were only active during the downswing.

3.3.3 Experimental protocol

Participants were instructed verbally and by demonstration how to perform the desired putting motion: shoulder abduction, followed by shoulder adduction across the body while keeping the wrist straight and elbow bent (see figure 3.1). They were told that the objective of the game was to impact the ball so that it would reach the center of the current target location: short or long. Participants first addressed the ball by placing the virtual club at a target displayed behind the pending location of the ball. Once the participant held the club at this position for one second, a golf ball appeared directly in front of the club. Participants then putted the ball. They were also shown a line across the path of their backswing that marked the minimum distance for the backswing, which was a point that experienced participants always passed when practicing. We displayed this line because some participants attempted to putt with a very short backswing followed by a jerky, forced, downward motion dissimilar to skilled putting motion. To prevent this aberrant style of putting, and the possibility of a switch in style during training, we programmed the ball so that it would not move at impact unless the backswing passed the minimum length criterion.

Each participant putted on three separate days. On Day 1, the initial practice day, they performed a total of 100 putts, 50 to each target location. The target locations were randomized prior to the experiment and all participants were presented with the same randomized order of target locations. The purpose of the initial practice day was twofold: (1) familiarize participants with the task, removing any learning effects due to the initial interaction with the robot and experience of the task (i.e. we wanted participants to be relatively competent at the task prior to exposure to the force fields), and (2) extract an initial putting skill measure that was then used to divide participants into training groups with matched average initial skill. Skill matching was achieved by ranking the 30 participants based on their average mean squared error of impact velocity during the second half of the session on Day 1, taking sequential blocks of three participants from this ranking list, and randomizing each block of three participants into the three training conditions.

Day 2, the training day, was performed 2 to 3 weeks after Day 1. It consisted of a total of 170 putts. The trials were divided into three phases: baseline assessment (40 trials), training (90 trials), and short-term retention (40 trials) with participants unaware of this breakdown. The target location was randomized for the baseline and short-term retention phases with 20 trials to each target. For the training phase, the same target location was presented in sets of three consecutive trials. The goal was to resemble a training session in which a trainee adjusts his or her execution across several attempts based on previous errors at the same target. This pattern of three putts to the same distance was repeated 30 times during the 90 training trials with a total of 45 trials to each target.

On Day 3, which occurred 1 to 3 days after Day 2, long-term retention was evaluated by asking participants to repeat the same 100 trials as on Day 1. No robotic force fields were applied for any group on Day 3.

3.3.4 Assessment of competence and motivation

Breaks of at least one minute were periodically scheduled during all sessions to minimize fatigue and to query participants' feelings of competence and motivation. During these breaks participants responded, using the 7-point Likert-type scale (1 = strongly disagree and 7 = strongly agree), to a subset of four questions (marked with an * on the list below) extracted from the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI) ([96]). Additionally, at the end of each day, participants responded to a larger subset of thir-teen questions, which also included the subset of four. The questions are shown in table 3.1.

Table 3.1: IN	1l table
---------------	----------

Question Number	Question statement
1	I enjoyed doing this activity very much
2	I felt very tense while doing this activity
3	I would describe this activity as very interesting
4	This activity did not hold my attention at all *
5	I was anxious while working on this task
6	After working at this task for a while, I felt pretty competent *
7	I put a lot of effort into this *
8	I think that doing this activity was very useful
9	I am satisfied with my performance at this task *
10	This activity was fun to do
11	I think this is an important activity
12	I tried very hard on this activity
13	I thought this activity was quite enjoyable

Question Number | Question statement

The schedule of breaks was as follows: Days 1 and 3 trials 33 and 66, and Day 2 trials 30, 60, 90, 120, 150. Note that the first break on Day 2 was scheduled before

the force fields were applied; this provided a baseline measurement of the responses that was then used to compare the changes in responses due to the changes in the training environment. Other breaks on Day 2 were scheduled at least 10 trials before or after changing the force fields. This was done by design because we did not want the breaks to interfere with the transitions from training with or without the force fields.

3.3.5 Data analysis

We defined motor skill as the variability in impact velocity. Previous studies have shown that the main differentiator between highly skilled and lowly skilled putters lies in the variability in their impact velocity; this is in spite of their average impact velocities being comparable ([57]). This variability also increases with target distance. To calculate variability, we first removed trials where the impact velocity was 3 standard deviations away from the mean for each participant at each experimental phase of the experiment. Variability was then calculated for each participant using a 'running variance' approach, i.e. as the variance across a moving window which included the current trial and the 9 next trials for a given target location. Note that all statistical analyses involving the moving window of the variance were also tested at a size of 9 and 11; no differences were found in terms of significance when compared to the window size of 10. We performed initial post-processing of the data, including analyses of variance, using Matlab (Mathworks; v7.8); we used the R-package (v3.0.1) to perform the follow-up linear mixed model analyses described below.

We used linear mixed-models to analyze the performance of participants at the shortand long-term retention assessments. We used the logarithmic scale on the variability in impact performance as the response variable as it provided improved linearity

for the models. The models included the 3 training conditions and time as fixed effects, and the effect of repeated measures on the same participants as random effects. We used the control condition as the reference condition to compare performance for both the ER and EA groups. Separate models were used for the short and long target locations and the short- and long-term retention phases of the experiment. Different structures of the random effects were tested to include random intercepts or a combination of intercepts and slopes. Models were compared using an analysis of variance approach. No significant differences were found between models with random slopes as compared to random intercepts; as such, all models include only a random intercepts structure. Following fitting of the models, residuals were inspected by looking at the residuals as a function of fitted values and the distribution of the residuals was visually inspected for normality using Q-Q plots.

One-way ANOVAs were used to analyze the change between training groups from one point in time to another. Specifically, we tested for differences at two points: (1) the change between the end of the baseline assessment on Day 2 and the start of training on Day 2, and (2) the end of the short-term assessment (end of Day 2) and the start of the long-term assessment (start of Day 3). The goal was to evaluate the effects of turning on the force fields (1), and to evaluate the level of retention, or lack thereof (2). Significance level for these tests was set at a p-value of $\alpha = 0.05$. If the ANOVA was significant, multiple comparisons were done using Tukey's range test. As an additional tool for diagnostics we tested for differences between training conditions at each window of the moving variance. We used a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with training condition as the main factor. Significance level for these tests was set at a p-value of $\alpha = 0.05$; p-values below 0.1 are also reported.

Changes in responses to the IMI during training Day 2 were computed relative to the response given during the first break on Day 2. To examine changes in IMI re-

sponse across days, changes in responses to the subset of 13 questions - given at the end of each day - were computed by subtracting the responses from the end of Day 1. We compared the changes in responses at each break, or day, using the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA with training condition as the main factor. Significance was set at a p-value below $\alpha = 0.05$; p-values below 0.1 are also reported. Tukey's range test was used on pair-wise comparisons if the ANOVA was significant.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Impact velocity variability

After Day 1, participants were relatively well practiced at the task. Their initial learning curves reached a plateau in Day 1 that continued into Day 2 for the short putt, or appeared to plateau by the end of the Day 2 baseline phase for the long putt. All groups had comparable performance at the end of baseline on Day 2 for both the short (Figure 3.2, baseline) and long target locations (Figure 3.3, baseline). We used a paired-sample t-test to compare the change in impact velocity variability from the end of the baseline phase to the start of the training phase on Day 2. We found that the EA field significantly increased participants' impact velocity variability at both target locations (short, p = 0.02; long, p = 0.03), while the ER field decreased impact velocity variability for both target locations (short, p = 0.02; long, p = 0.03), while the ER field decreased impact velocity variability for both target locations (short, p = 0.02; long, p = 0.03), while the ER field decreased impact velocity variability for both target locations (short, p = 0.002; long, p = 0.002; long, p = 0.002; long, p = 0.004); thus the fields did what they were intended to do. There was a decrease in the variability of participants in the control condition at the short target location which was close to significant (p = 0.07); this was most likely due to the change in the presentation of the target location where it remained constant for sets of 3 shots at a time during training. Note however, that for the long target location the change was not significant (p = 0.27).

At the short target location, there was improved performance at the short-term retention assessment for participants in both the ER and EA groups when compared to the control group (Fig. 2, linear mixed model, main effects: ER, p = 0.04, EA p = 0.06; time-ER interaction p = 0.03). At the long-term retention assessment (Day 3) there was a significant time effect (p < 0.001) for improvements in performance across training groups; participants in the ER group performed significantly better than participants in the control group (main effects: ER, p = 0.003; time-ER interaction p < 0.001). No significant differences were found between the EA group and regular training.

For the long target location, performance at the beginning of the short-term retention assessment was similar between all three training conditions. However, a time-ER interaction effect (p = 0.02) showed that performance of the ER group worsened with respect to the others as the assessment elapsed. No significant differences were found in performance between the EA and control groups for the short-term retention assessment. For the long-term assessment, there was a significant trend for improvement in performance for both the ER and EA groups as compared with the control group (time-ER p < 0.001; time-EA p < 0.001). Performance for the EA group was significantly worse than the control group at the start of the assessment (p = 0.049).

We quantified consolidation (i.e. offline learning) as the change in performance from the end of Day 2 to the beginning of Day 3 (Figures 3.4 and 3.5). Consolidation, or lack thereof, was significantly different between groups (ANOVA, F(2, 27), p = 0.03) for the long target but not the short target. On average, only participants in the ER training group showed offline learning. Follow-up multiple comparisons revealed significant differences in consolidation between the ER and EA groups (Tukey test, p < 0.05).

During the training phase, participants were allowed to putt three times in a row to each target. We checked whether they improved their performance during the sequence of three putts as would be the case if there was some form of error-based learning (Figure 3.6. Participants in the EA group significantly reduced errors from the first putt to the second and third putts (ANOVA, F(2,), p < 0.001). For the control group at the long target, participants' errors were significantly reduced by the third putt (ANOVA, F(2,), p = 0.037) and approached significance at the short target (ANOVA, F(2,), p = 0.68).

3.4.2 Ratings of Motivation

Training condition had a significant effect on how participants experienced training on Day 2 (Fig. 5). Participants in the ER group reported higher feelings of competence while participants in the EA group reported the opposite (Q6; Fig. 5A; Kruskal-Wallis test, Breaks 2 to 5: p < 0.05). Regarding the amount of effort put into the task, Q7, participants in the ER had a tendency to report higher effort levels while the errorreducing force field was active; however, this difference failed to reach significance (Fig. 5B; Kruskal-Wallis test, Break 3: p = 0.08; Break 4: p = 0.06). In terms of the reported levels of satisfaction, Q9, a similar behavior to competence was found. Participants in the ER group reported higher levels of satisfaction while those in the EA reported the opposite; note that this difference becomes less significant after the forces are turned off (Fig. 5C; Kruskal-Wallis test, Breaks 2 to 4: p < 0.05 and Break 5: p = 0.07). Finally, the use of the force fields did not have a significant effect on the reported levels of attention to the task between training conditions (Q10, Fig. 5D).

Looking at the responses across training days (Fig. 6), participants in the EA group reported higher negative feelings towards the task. Regarding the reported importance of the task, Q 11, the EA group reported significantly lower scores both after training with the force fields (Fig. 6A, Kruskal-Wallis test, p = 0.02), and after the long-term assessment, 1-3 days after having experienced the force fields (Fig. 6A, Kruskal-Wallis



Figure 3.2: **Temporal evolution of the variability in impact velocity - Short target** - Variability was calculated as the variance across a moving window of 10 trials for each subject, then averaged across all subjects in each training condition for the short target. The plots show performance during Day 2 (Baseline, Training, and Shortterm retention) and Day 3 (Long-term retention, which occurred 1-3 days after Day 2). The ER and EA force fields were active only during the training phase. Markers on the y-axis show the performance of the last 10 putts in Day 1 for the control (•), error-reduction (\diamond), and error-amplification (\Box). Diamond markers (\diamond) on the top bar indicate a significant difference between training groups for a given moving window as determined by a one-way ANOVA. Asterisks (*) and triangles (\bigtriangledown) indicate significant main effects for the linear mixed model for ER and EA, respectively. Plus (+) and x (×) indicate significant time-condition interactions for the ER and EA conditions, respectively.



Figure 3.3: **Temporal evolution of the variability in impact velocity** - Variability was calculated as the variance across a moving window of 10 trials for each subject, then averaged across all subjects in each training condition for the long target. The plots show performance during Day 2 (Baseline, Training, and Short-term retention (STR)) and Day 3 (Long-term retention (LTR), which occurred 1-3 days after Day 2). The ER and EA force fields were active only during the training phase. Markers on the y-axis show the performance of the last 10 putts in Day 1 for the control (•), error-reduction (\diamond), and error-amplification (\Box). Diamond markers (\diamond) on the top bar indicate a significant difference between training groups for a given moving window as determined by a one-way ANOVA. Asterisks (*) and triangles (\bigtriangledown) indicate significant time-condition interactions for the ER and EA conditions, respectively.



Figure 3.4: **Consolidation (offline learning)** - Consolidation across training groups for the short (left) and long (right) target location. There was a significant difference between training groups in the amount of retention from the end of Day 2 to the beginning of Day 3 for the long target (ANOVA p = 0.03, * = follow-up Tukey test indicated pairwise difference between ER and EA, p = 0.??). Error bars represent the standard error.



Figure 3.5: **Consolidation (offline learning)** - Consolidation across training groups for the short (left) and long (right) target location. There was a significant difference between training groups in the amount of retention from the end of Day 2 to the beginning of Day 3 for the long target (ANOVA p = 0.03, * = follow-up Tukey test indicated pairwise difference between ER and EA, p = 0.??). Error bars represent the standard error.



Figure 3.6: **Error-based learning across training conditions** - Plots A and B show the signed recalibration error (i.e. the error incurred after there is a change in target location) for the short (A) and long (B) target locations. There is a clear trend for the recalibration error to be in the direction of the previous putt; in other words, participants had a tendency to overshoot the short target and undershoot the long target following a change in the target location. Plots B and C show the signed errors incurred during the training phase of the experiment. For error-based learning, we expected errors to decrease for consecutive putts to the same target location. This was clear in the EA training condition at the short target (ANOVA, p < 0.001) and in the CTRL condition at the long target (ANOVA, p = 0.037). The asterisks show significant differences between experimental phases for a given training conditions, and the stars show significant differences between training conditions for a given experimental phase (A and B) or set of putts (C and D). Error bars represent the standard error.

test, p = 0.001). This same behavior was seen in relation to the reported levels of enjoyment of the task (Q13; Fig. 6B; Kruskal-Wallis test, Day 2: p = 0.003; Day 3: p = 0.02). Additional questions were also evident of a more negative perception of the task following training with the error-amplifying force fields but did not reach statistical significance (Q7,9,4; Fig. 6D-F). Responses to the other 7 questions were not significantly different between training conditions.



Figure 3.7: **Responses to a subset of 4 questions from the IMI during training on Day 2** - The top bar of each plot shows when the force field was active (i.e. during breaks 2, 3, and 4). Stars denote significant differences by Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA. For perceived effort levels (B), the ER group reported higher effort levels when the force fields were active, a trend that approached significance (p = 0.09 break 3; p = .06break 4). Error bars represent the standard error.



Figure 3.8: **Responses to a subset of 13 questions from the IMI asked at the end of each training day** - Only those questions with significant or near significant differences between training groups are shown. There was a significant trend for participants in the EA group to report more negative feelings towards the training at the end of Day 2 (A, B, and C). Some of these feelings persisted at the end of Day 3 (A and B) even though the force fields were not active during Day 3. Error bars represent the standard error.

3.5 Discussion

We assessed the effects of robotically modulating kinematic errors on motor learning and motivation for a virtual game of golf putting for participants who were wellpracticed at the task. We manipulated velocity errors in the direction of the putting motion by reducing them (ER training), amplifying them (EA training), or leaving them unchanged (control training). Contrary to our expectations, haptically reducing kinematic errors during putting practice aided skill at the long term assessment for both short and long putts, and at the short term assessment for short putts. It however had a negative effect at the short-term assessment for the more challenging, long putt. The fact that it degraded performance at the short-term assessment for the long putt, but aided it in the long-term, was attributable to a significantly greater amount of off-line learning for this putt length following ER training. EA training had no negative effects on skill development, and produced slightly better performance of the short putt at the short-term assessment as well as for the long putt by the end of the long-term assessment.

Modulating kinematic errors during training also significantly affected participants' motivation with respect to the task. In accordance with our working hypotheses, training with ER led to higher feelings of competence and satisfaction, while training with EA caused participants to feel less competent and less satisfied. However, we were surprised that this latter effect persisted even days after participants had experienced the EA field. Also in disagreement with one of our working hypotheses was the finding that the EA group did not report higher effort levels during training even though we expected them to 'fight' with the robot. In contrast, participants in the EA group tended to report exerting an increased amount of effort, even though the robot 'helped' these participants perform the putting task. We first discuss the

positive and negative effects of ER and EA training, and then discuss implications for robot-aided motor training and rehabilitation.

3.5.1 Positive effects of ER training

ER training improved performance at the long term retention test for both the short and long putt. Positive effects of ER (or haptic guidance) have been reported previously for learning to drive a wheelchair ([68]), make spatiotemporal trajectories ([32]; [62]), and simulated tennis ([70]). For these tasks, it was suggested that ER aids in the development of the sense of timing for the task. Given that participants were relatively well practiced at the task we tested here, it is unlikely that the improved performance was due to ER training better teaching the 'feel' of the task i.e. the participants likely had already learned the 'feel' of the task. In addition, the putting task studied here is a velocity control task i.e. the trainee must achieve a target velocity of the putter hand at the impact location, rather than control the timing of movement.

Besides its effect on timing learning, previous studies suggest ER may affect whether the motor system uses explicit or implicit learning mechanisms. Reducing error has been shown to previously lead to implicit learning ([72]; [47]; [38]). Explicit and implicit learning consolidate differently [94]. In a golf putting task, practicing short before long putts was suggested to cause implicit learning and enhance transfer ([87]). However, in the present study, trainees experienced a substantial amount of putting practice before the ER field was turned on, likely already activating explicit learning mechanisms [72].

Instead of timing or implicit learning related mechanisms, we tentatively suggest that the positive effect of ER in the current study may be attributable to the motivational effects we also observed; i.e. ER trainees reported higher feelings of competence and satisfaction, and a trend toward higher effort levels. Previous studies have found that providing positive feedback during training promotes retention ([97]). For example, participants who experienced higher success rates in a visuomotor rotation adaptation test during training, by virtue of relaxing the criterion for counting a successful trial, performed better at a 24-hr retention test than participants who experienced less success by virtue of a stricter success criterion ([109]). Also consistent with this concept is the observation that training with ER improved retention between Day 2 and Day 3 for the long putt. A possible mechanism that account for better learning with more experience of success is error-related negativity, which is the reduced release of dopamine during motor learning when failure is common ([42]). ER prevents performance failure and thus may in some training situations cause a greater release of dopamine, better sealing motor memory ([109]).

3.5.2 Negative effects of ER training

The decreased short-term learning following training with ER for the long target was the only finding consistent with the Guidance Hypothesis. The long putt was more difficult to master, as evidenced by the higher errors and longer initial learning curve. Perhaps removing the experience of large errors during ER training reduced the ability of the motor system to find solutions to this more challenging problem. In addition, studies suggest that the gradual introduction of errors improves retention ([45]; [49]); while the form of ER used here reduced error size, it also effectively eliminated error instead of gradually allowing it. We note here also that there was somewhat of an irony in the responses given by the ER group to the questions on satisfaction and competence after removal of the force field in that they were still more positive than the other groups even when their performance on the long putts was worsening; they were however doing better on the short putts.

3.5.3 Positive effects of EA training

Training with error augmentation improved short-term putting skill relative to the control group for the short putt, another example of a benefit of EA training ([30]; [84]; [44]; [1]). We anticipated EA might improve short-term learning through three possible mechanisms: increasing attention to the task, enhancing error-based learning, or impedance control. Self-reports of attention were not different during training for the three groups. With respect to error-based learning, participants in the EA showed evidence of error-based learning at the short target location; this was especially evident in the change in error size from the first putt to the second and third putts. Additionally, there was a trend for errors to decrease when putting at the long target location; however, these differences were not significant. Regarding the possibility of impedance control, we did not see a decrease in variability across the practice period when EA was on as might have been expected if the motor system was iteratively increasing impedance ([36]). The mechanism of short-term positive effects of EA needs further research; a useful future direction would be to measure mechanical impedance during the putting task.

Participants who trained with EA also eventually outperformed control subjects by the end of the long term retention test. The reason for the different time dynamics of performance of EA trainees on Day 3 with respect to control trainees is unclear.

3.5.4 Negative effects of EA training

Participants who trained with EA reported lower levels of competence and enjoyment during training, and, surprisingly, on Day 3, when no force fields were applied and their performance was as good as or better than the control group, they continued these reports. Evidently the experience of an inexplicably, large, sudden increase in error and corresponding decline in success in sinking putts persistently impaired motivation in a way that was out-of-step with actual performance. Two factors that have been shown to correlate with motivation in exercise training are perception of success, which refers to how successful trainees feel they were in improving their ability through training, and self-efficacy, which refers to how confident a trainee is that they could achieve a target performance level if tested again ([73]). EA almost certainly had a negative effect on perception of success because trainees experienced a long period of time in which they rarely sank putts. The fact that EA suddenly and inexplicably caused trainees' errors to become large, and that trainees were not able to adapt to the EA field while it was on, likely also diminished self-efficacy.

The approximate tripling of error via EA had a long-term persisting effect on task perception that was not consistent with the participant's actual performance, which was not worse. In contrast, halving error via ER had only a temporary effect on task perception. The perceptual effect of ER was also inconsistent with performance, at least in the short-term retention test for the long putt which the ER-trained subjects performed worse. Perception can clearly be decoupled from performance.

There may be an asymmetry of motivational response such that error augmentation causes longer-lasting perceptual effects than error reduction. An interesting followup experiment would be to apply the force fields from the start of training. In this case, the EA subjects would experience only a change from poor to good performance when the field was removed, although their average performance would still be worse, while the ER subjects would experience only a change from good to poor performance when the field was removed, while their average performance would be better. How would the overall level of performance, the slope of the change in performance, and the trainees' perception of self-efficacy affect motivation? ER and EA
techniques provide a way to address such questions, and should be further explored to determine how the size of errors and pattern of change of errors affects motivation, perception of success, and self-efficacy immediately following training and later, which are pragmatic issues for effectively translating robot training to real-world applications.

3.5.5 Implications for robot-assisted motor skill training and neurorehabiliation

Self-efficacy is an important concept in both sports and neurorehabilitation training because it leads to higher motivation and persistence when faced with difficulties in performing the task ([11]). A possible approach is to use ER fields early on in motor training to generate an expectation of behavior that leads trainees to make use of their impaired body in settings other than the lab. Bandura [11] argued that a person's 'expectations of personal mastery affect both initiation and persistence of coping behavior'. Therapies that positively affect people's expectations of their motor capabilities may lead them to be more persistent at using their bodies. One plausible scenario is one in which people's capabilities are reinforced during training by using devices that through assistive approaches such as ER improve people's motivation and perceived self-efficacy. Such may be a valid rationale for the ER based commercial golf swing trainers mentioned in the introduction. For neurorehabilitation, similar motivational and motor learning mechanisms are also likely operating. Subjective reports from stroke patients who have undergone robotic therapy suggest they find it more motivating in part because it allows them to accomplish tasks they normally could not achieve ([92]). Schweighofer and Winstein [102] have provided evidence for a threshold-based dynamic in achieved rehabilitation dosage after stroke

where patients who achieve a threshold level of movement ability engage in spontaneous use of the hand outside of therapy, further increasing the dose of therapy and improving their outcomes. The evidence presented in this paper for the ability of error reduction to improve a participants perception of training provides a possible explanation as to why robot-assisted rehabilitation therapies have shown increased retention levels when compared to conventional training ([60], [43]).

Chapter 4

Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE): A system for assessing and training forelimb motor function

In collaboration with Kelli Sharp, Sergi Perez, Berkey Gebrekristos, Ardi Guanawan

4.1 Abstract

Recovery of hand function is a high priority for individuals with cervical spinal cord injury (cSCI). An important factor in this recovery process is the recovery of grip strength. In rodent models of cSCI a well-established method for assessing grip strength is the Grip Strength Meter (GSM). The GSM measures the force at which an animal releases its grip from a bar as an experimenter pulls its body away from it. This method assumes that the force at release reflects the grip strength of the animal, which may not be the case since the pull is initiated by the experimenter rather than the animal. It also requires pulls achieved by use of a spastic paw to be discounted. To address these issues, we developed a novel robotic device, the Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE), to measure and train the forelimb strength of rodents. RUE is similar to the GSM in that it uses a bar pulling paradigm, but it differs from the GSM because it 1) requires the animal to voluntarily reach for and pull the bar and 2) motivates the animals using afood reward in which the proximity of the food reward to the mouth is controlled by the force exerted and 3) can temporarily block the motion of the bar to elicit higher effort from the animal. We trained 16 animals to interact with RUE for 23 weeks before and 38 weeks after a mild (100 kdyn) unilateral contusion at the C5 vertebrae. We measured their forelimb strength once per week using both RUE's 'blocked pull' paradigm and the GSM method. Before the lesion, peak pulling force measured with RUE was $446.65q \pm 17.73qSEM$ on average, 2.6 times higher than with the GSM which was $168.41b \pm 3.13gSEM$. Measurements with RUE were significantly more variable (p < 0.001) than with the GSM. The two measurement methods were uncorrelated (R < 0.001, p = 0.99). After the lesion, RUE measured a significant loss in peak pulling force of, on average, $30.01\% \pm 2.89\% SEM$. The loss in pulling force correlated with a reduction in white matter area, when compared to the uninjured side (R = 0.59, p = 0.04), but not gray matter. Only one rat met the active paw placement criteria required for GSM-based strength measurement after injury. These results indicate that the GSM does not measure peak forelimb strength, likely because it does not sufficiently motivate the animal to engage in the task. In contrast, RUE can measure volitional forelimb strength both before and after cSCI, a useful feature for quantifying the effects of rehabilitation and other treatment approaches.

4.2 Introduction

There are an estimated 273,000 people in the US who have sustained an injury to the spinal cord. More than 50% of these injuries are at the cervical level and thus lead to loss of voluntary control of the upper extremity [18]. For people with tetraplegia, regaining function of their upper extremities and hands ranks atop their priorities, even above functions such as bowel/bladder control, and sexual functions [103]. A key outcome measure of hand function is grip strength. In humans, the standard way of measuring grip strength involves asking patients to squeeze a dynamometer as hard as they can for three repetitions. The three values are then averaged and this is defined as their maximum grip strength [27].

In rodents, there is no standard tool to measure grip strength. Instead, a battery of tests are used, usually in conjunction with one another, to assess the level of function of the forelimb. Some of these tests include: the grip strength meter (GSM) ([71]; [8]; [5]; [9]; [3]; [119]), the food pellet reaching task ([74]), the sticker removal task [100], and the pasta matrix reaching task [2], among others (for a through list of forelimb assessments for rat models see [50]). Of particular interest for us is the use of the GSM as a tool to assess grip strength.

The GSM was developed more than 25 years ago to test the effects of environmental and psychopharmacological agents on motor function of the forelimb [75]. Although its name implies a measure of grip strength, the GSM does not measure grip strength in the same way it is measured in humans (i.e. by measuring squeezing force). Instead, this test measures the force at which an animal releases its grip from a bar as an experimenter pulls its body away from it. This test has good reliability and has been used in a variety of environmental and pharmacological studies [78]. However, it is unclear whether the GSM measures maximum voluntary grip strength. The GSM has also been used to measure forelimb function after cSCI ([8]; [5]; [9]; [3]; [119];), and has good reliability and sensitivity to the injury. However, in applications involving cSCI, the criteria for validity of a GSM measurement is stricter. This is because cSCI can lead to spastic muscles that leave the hand in a clawed position and measurements with the GSM would not reflect voluntary control of the animal's grip in this case. Thus in GSM applied to cSCI, experimenters perform a visual inspection of the hand after it releases the bar; if the fingers remain in a clawed position then the measurement is registered as a 0 (see [5]). This strict criterion of an appropriate grip in order to obtain a valid GSM measurement after cSCI may cause subtle motor improvements to be unaccounted. Studies have often not obtained valid GSM strength measurements because of this issue from a majority of rodents specially right after SCI ([8]; [3]).

To address and study these issues, we designed a robotic system that uses a rewardbased approach to train and assess motor function of the rodent upper extremity. In this device, the Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE), animals are placed inside a box where they must volitionally reach for and pull on a bar to bring a food reward within reach for eating. This bar is connected to a robotic interface by which the force required to complete the pulling task can be modified.

This chapter is part of a set of two articles describing the use of RUE as a tool for the assessment (this chapter) and rehabilitation (accompanying chapter – Chapter 5) of motor function in a rodent model of SCI. Specifically, we focused on a model of unilateral contusion to the C5 vertebrae of the rat spinal cord. In this chapter we compare the method for assessing forelimb function via RUE to the well-known and widely-used grip strength meter (GSM). We hypothesized that the reward-based approach used with RUE would lead to increased motivation for the animals to engage in the task and therefore higher forces measured during the assessment than the

63

GSM. We further hypothesized that by focusing on the functional abilities of the animal to perform the task of reaching and pulling-and not on the paw placement of the animal-we would be able to measure the effect of the injury as well as the subsequent rehabilitation process on voluntary limb function more robustly.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Animals

Experimental animals were female Sprague-Dawley rats (Harlan, Inc., San Diego, CA) that were 210-240 grams ($222.68 \pm 2.16g$) at the beginning of the experiment and between 3 and 4 months of age. A total of sixteen rats were utilized for this experiment. The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the University of California, Irvine, approved all experimental protocols utilized in this experiment.

Animals were handled for three weeks prior to device acclimation. The animals were maintained on a food-restricted diet in which they received 85% of a normal daily intake. Animals were food restricted as a means to incentivize them to participate during training sessions. The animals were weighed weekly to ensure overall health.

All procedures described were carried out with a set of 4 animals prior to the 16 animals we report here [85]. Testing with these 4 animals helped us refine the procedures used with RUE.

4.3.2 Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE)

We designed a robotic-based system, RUE, for assessing and training rats in a selfinitiated forelimb task consisting of reaching for and pulling on a bar to retrieve a food reward. The system is comprised of a one degree-of-freedom resistance-based trainer, an automated food reward mechanism, and an acrylic box to house the animals during training (Figure 4.1A). The acrylic box is 6" wide by 12" long and 12" high. The width of the box was divided into two halves by means of an opaque acrylic divider to force the animal to pull the bar with a specific forelimb. All assessments in this study were carried out with the right paw.

Animals interacted with the trainer by means of a custom-made metal bar (Figure 4.1B) coupled to a voice coil actuator (VCS10-023-BS-01-MH; H2W Technologies Inc., Santa Clarita, CA) that generated the prescribed forces during the assessments. A linear potentiometer (LCP12A-25-10K; ETI Systems, Carlsbad, CA) was coupled to the voice coil actuator to measure its position. The resistance-based trainer was programmed to behave as a linear spring.

Successful trials were rewarded with 20mg chocolate-flavored food pellets (Bio Serv, Frenchtown,NJ). They were delivered by a custom-made food tray placed on the opposite end of the metal bar (Figure 4.1C) using an automatic food pellet dispenser (ENV-2030-20, Med Associates Inc, St. Albans, VT). In it's resting state, the bar was retracted so that the food tray remained behind the front acrylic panel, out of reach of the animals. The goal for the animals was to bring the food tray within reach by pulling on the bar (Figure 4.1D) far enough forward to retrieve the food pellet with the mouth (Figure 4.1E).

The robotic system was controlled and data recorded at a sampling rate of 1000Hz using a USB Data Acquisition board (NI-6009; National Instruments, Austin, TX) inter-

65

faced with Matlab (The MathWorks Inc, Natick, MA). A custom-made user interface was created in Matlab for the animal trainers to setup and run the assessments.



Figure 4.1: **Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE)** - AutoGSM device. (A) The device was composed of a linear actuator, automated food dispenser, and an acrylic box to house the animal during training. (B) Animals pulled on a metallic, coupled to a linear actuator, in order to retrieve a food reward placed in the food tray (C). (D) Sample image of an animal pulling the metallic bar to retrieve the food pellets. (E) Once the food was within reach, the animal could retrieve it with the mouth.

4.3.3 Measuring grip strength

Grip strength meter

In this experiment, we followed the procedure previously developed for use with the grip strength meter and SCI models [8]. Briefly, the first week was used to acclimate the animals to being handled. This was followed by 10 training session where the animals were assessed using the GSM. To this end, they were held around the midsection with one forearm restrained by the experimenter and the unrestrained forepaw brought in contact with the grip strength meter (GSM, designed by TSE Systems and distributed by Sci Pro, Inc.). The animal was held in place until it grasped the bar and then gently pulled away from the bar by the experimenter. The grip strength was defined as the maximal force recorded by the GSM before the animal released the bar. This maximal force was recorded for four attempts and its average computed in each assessment.

RUE

Robotic-based assessments of strength with the RUE were carried once per week. On two other days each week, the animals trained with RUE for 3 minutes. For a complete description of the training protocol please refer to Chapter 5. Briefly, animals trained with either constant force-set at a value much lower than their maximum strength-or with an adaptive algorithm that sought to train them close to their maximum strength. Before conducting any robotic assessments, 45 training sessions were conducted over a span of 87 days. Following this initial training period, 11 pre-lesion and then 28 post-lesion assessments were performed with the RUE.

67

The procedure for strength assessment was as follows. First, the animal pulled for 4 to 5 times without resistance on the bar in order to reinforce the task-reward pairing. The bar was then 'blocked' by increasing its stiffness coefficient of the robot to a value above the animal's pulling capability. The animal then pulled for 3 to 5 repetitions. By unexpectedly blocking the bar, we expected the animal to pull at its highest force capacity in order to retrieve the food reward. We recorded the maximum pulling force exerted during the blocked trials as the animal's maximum forelimb strength.

Unlike the GSM, RUE measures the pulling strength of self-initiated movements motivated by a food reward. We did not remove trials where the forelimb force might have involved reliance on the spastic contracture of the paw to hold it to the bar–a behavior rejected in the GSM measurements.

4.3.4 Lesion of the spinal cord

For surgery, rats were anesthetized with 1.5 - 3.0% isoflurane (Western medical Supply, Inc., Arcadia, CA). Hair overlaying the cervical vertebra was removed by shaving with clippers, the skin was treated with betadine and incised, and the multiple muscle layers overlaying the cervical vertebral column were bluntly dissected. A dorsal laminectomy at C5 was performed with ronguers. The animal was placed in the stabilizing platform with Addison forceps providing stability rostral and caudal to the laminectomy. The impactor probe (2.5mm probe) was centered over the exposed spinal cord to the right of the dorsal vein. Unilateral mild lesions with 100 kD of force were created using the Infinite Horizons (IH) Impactor (Precision Systems & Instrumentation, Lexington, KY). After generating the lesions, the muscle was sutured in layers with 5 - 0 chromic gut (Henry Schein, Melville, NY) and the skin was closed with 9mm staples (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburg, PA).

Following surgery, rats were immediately placed on a water circulating heating pad until they recovered from the anesthetic. Post-surgical care included delivery of lactated ringers (5ml/100g, subcutaneously) for hydration for 3 days and Baytril (Enroflaxacin 2.5ml/kg, subcutaneously, Western Medical Supplies, Arcadia, CA) for 7 days for prophylaxis against urinary tract infections (UTIs). The analgesic Buprnex (Buprenorphine, 0.01 mg/kg, Western Medical Supplies, Arcadia, CA) was given for 3 days for pain management. Staples were removed at 14 days post injury. Rats were housed 3-4 per cage and were monitored twice daily for general health, coat quality (indicative of normal grooming activity) and mobility within the cage. Rats with cervical contusion injuries typically resume these activities the day following injury. In addition, signs of paralysis were monitored, including lack of hind limb movement, tail flaccidity, and unstable/uncoordinated movement. Rats were also monitored for skin lesions on the paralyzed limbs or autophagia of the toes.

4.3.5 Histology

At the end of the testing period (approximately 321 days post injury), rats were killed with an overdose of Euthasol®(Delmarva Laboratories, Inc., Richmond, VA) and perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde. Dissected spinal cords were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M buffered phosphate at 4C. Whole spinal cords were cryoprotected in 27% sucrose prior to embedding in OCT Tissue-Tek and flash freezing. A 7mm segment of the spinal cord centered around the lesion epicenter was collected. Twenty μm cross sections were taken and thaw mounted onto microscope slides. Sets of 3 slides were made such that sections on each slide were $200\mu m$ apart and the full 7mm length of the spinal cord was represented on each slide.

4.3.6 Staining

One set of slides was stained with Ehrlichs Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E). Sections were washed in PBS, dehydrated through graded ethanols, and de-fatted in Xylenes. Slides were hydrated through graded ethanols to water, stained in Ehrlichs Hematoxylin, washed in water, differentiated in 1% hydrochloric acid in 70% ethanol, washed again in water, blued in 10% ammonium hydroxide, washed again in water, then equilibrated in 95% ethanol before staining in Eosin. Excess Eosin was removed in 95% ethanol, the slides completely dehydrated in 100% ethanol, cleared in Xylenes, and coverslipped with DPX.

Sets of sections were immunostained for GFAP to identify reactive astrocytes. Sections were washed in PBS, blocked in PBS with 5% normal donkey serum and 0.1% Triton X-100, then incubated in diluted primary antibody GFAP 1:1500 (Sigma) overnight. Sections were washed in PBS, incubated in 1:250 Alexafluor- 488 conjugated secondary antibodies 1 2 hours, then washed in PBS. Sections were coverslipped with Kiaser.

4.3.7 Data analysis

Lesion measurements

We used ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD)to measure the areas of healthy and injured gray and white matter. We focused on those sections at or near the lesion epicenter. Values were expressed as a percentage of the ratio between injured to non-injured halves. The reduction in size was calculated as the ratio between the injured to the uninjured side. We computed this for the overall hemisphere, gray matter alone, and white matter alone. The reduction in force capability was measured by linearly fitting, for each animal, the force measured with the RUE for pre- and post-lesion data separately. The linear regressions were then used to predict the forces at DPI = -1 and DPI = 1. The reduction in force capability was thus defined as the change in force between these two instances in time.

Statistical analysis

The pre-lesion measurements using both the GSM and RUE were matched in pairs for each animal and at each testing day in order to measure the correlation between the measurements.

To measure whether there was a significant difference in the measurements immediately before and immediately after the induced lesion, we used a two-sample t-test.

Histological measurements were matched to the corresponding change in force due to the injury and correlations measured.

All statistical analyses were done using Matlab (The MathWorks Inc, Natick, MA). All measurements reported as significant fall below a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Exclusion of animals from the analysis

Four animals were excluded from the post-lesion data analysis. Two of the animals were removed after histologically reviewing their lesion and determining that no injury had been sustained. The other two animals were removed because they did not engage in the pulling task following the injury. All four animals were included in the pre-lesion analyses as these exclusion criteria were inapplicable then.

4.4.2 Measurements of forelimb function

Pre-lesion, both methods successfully measured strength for all animals. These measurements were, on average, 2.6 times higher with the RUE than the GSM (Figure 4.2A). Post-lesion, the RUE recorded strength measurements for 10 out of 12 animals while the GSM recorded strength measurements for 1 out of 12 animals (Figure 4.2B) because of a failure to meet the paw-placing criterion.

Strength as measured with the RUE decreased after the cSCI by an average of $121.29g \pm 14.25gSEM$ on the first assessment taken post-lesion (day 10); a significant decrease (t-test, p = 0.03).

The GSM and RUEstrength measurements prior to injury were uncorrelated (Fig. 4.3, R < 0.001, p = 0.89). Additionally, the variability in measurements between animals was, on average, 5.8 times more variable with the RUE than with the GSM (Fig. 4.2, t-test, p < 0.001).



Figure 4.2: **Assessment of forelimb function** - [A] Pre-lesion measurements of forelimb strength were 2.6 times higher with RUE than with the GSM. Errorbars represent the standard error of the mean. Variability in the measurements is higher for RUE than GSM. [B] Post-lesion, RUE consistently recorded forelimb strength for all animals while the GSM only had 1 recording which met the spasticity criterion.



Figure 4.3: Correlation between GSM and RUE measurements - There was no correlation between the two measurements (R < 0.001, p = 0.89). This figure also shows the significant difference in variability between the two assessment methods.

4.4.3 Histology analysis

We quantified the effect of the injury anatomy on the performance with RUE by comparing the reduction in size of the injured side to the reduction in force capability preto post-injury. Reduction in white matter was significantly correlated with reduction in strength (Figure 4.4C, R = 0.59, p = 0.04). Total hemisphere size and gray matter were not significantly correlated with the loss in strength (Figures 4.4A and 4.4B, respectively).



Figure 4.4: **Analysis of injury size and its effect on performance** - The reduction in white matter area (C) from the lesion was significantly correlated with the loss of strength due to the lesion (R = 0.59, p = 0.04). Neither the reduction in gray matter (B), nor the overall reduction in area of the injured hemisphere (A) were correlated with the loss of strength. (D) is a sample image of a lesioned spinal cord. The left side of the image is where the injury was applied.

4.5 Discussion

We created a device, the Robotic Rehabilitator of the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE), and used it to assess forelimb strength of rats before and after a unilateral cSCI. RUE peak pulling force was sensitive to a moderate, lateral cSCI contusion, and was correlated with the amount of white matter sparing determined by histological analysis. As we argue next, RUE has several potential advantages over the GSM method of measuring forelimb strength, and could provide a useful new tool for studying cSCI.

4.5.1 Comparison with GSM

The RUE measures forelimb strength based on the forces exerted during a foodmotivated, self-initiated, pull. These forces were on average 2.6 times larger than those measured with the GSM. Thus the RUE method is closer to measuring peak pulling force than the GSM method. However, it is still unclear if the RUE is measuring maximum pulling force, since there is no guarantee that the animal pulls with a maximum effort. Rather, RUE makes the assumption that an animal that is frustrated when it cannot obtain the food reward it is used to retrieving will pull as hard as possible to retrieve it. Indeed, the pulling force on the blocked trials was at least 1.9 times greater than the peak force on the training trials. Thus, RUE seems to measure something that corresponds more closely with the parameter of 'volitional strength', given the higher forces that animals achieve on blocked trials, as well as the higher forces it measures when compared to the GSM.

The fact that histological analysis revealed a significant correlation between the loss of strength of the forelimb and the reduction in white matter due to the injury is consistent with this concept. Previous work has emphasized that that weakness after spinal cord injury and stroke can result from a decrease in the quantity of descending fibers transmitting motor signals to the motorneuronal pools of the spinal cord, resulting in decreased recruitment of those pools [91]. This finding is of important clinical relevance as it provides a functional outcome measure that may be sensitive to regeneration treatments targeting white matter tracts following SCI.

By requiring volitional performance of the pulling task, we argue that the RUE obviates concerns of paw spasticity corrupting the measure of peak force. With the GSM, the pulling force could arise because the paw spastically grips the bar, while the passive forelimb is pulled to the extreme of its passive range of motion by the experimenter. Thus, GSM protocols for cSCI require careful observation of paw placement, and omittal of measurements thought to rely on a spastic grip. This can be the majority of measurements (all measurements post cSCI for 11 of 12 animals in the current study), causing a substantial data loss. With the RUE, the rat may grip the limb with a spastic paw, but the pulling force must be actively generated. Therefore, the RUE measures movements and forces generated by the animal, regardless of the influence of paw spasticity.

The RUE measurements were more variable than the GSM measurements. This is again consistent with the idea that the RUE measures volitional pulling force that depends on the motivation level of the animal, which might be expected to vary depending on hunger/time of day/pain etc. RUE measurements may also be more variable because the animal was allowed to grasp or hook the bar in any way it chose. Variations in grasping posture may affect the force with which an animal can pull.

On the other hand, compared to the GSM, RUE required a more complex and time consuming protocol to administer. To motivate the animals to participate in the training, they were placed on a food-restricted diet of 85% their normal food intake. The animals were then habituated and shaped to RUE over a couple of weeks prior to

77

any training. Once the animals were comfortable in the device, they were trained to associate pulling the bar with the food reward. Only when all the animals were successfully pulling the bar pre-lesion adaptive training started.

4.5.2 Future directions with RUE

RUE may be useful not only as an assessment tool, but also to retrain forelimb strength, thereby simulating the neurorehabilitation process in humans. Although the rehabilitation data presented in this chapter showed no change in peak force performance from the start to the end of the rehabilitation intervention, we show in the accompanying chapter that the percentage of strength recovery, relative to the pre-lesion abilities of each animal, is in fact significant. As explained in the next chapter, the rehabilitation program had animals train in either low- and high-force groups. We will show that those animals training with the higher forces show, on average, greater recovery than those training with lower forces. Thus, since RUE can achieve forelimb strength increases with an appropriate protocol design, it may be useful for enhancing neuroplasticity and neuroregeneration in rehabilitation treatments ([35]; [4]).

One of the current limitations of the RUE is a lack of understanding of how the animal uses its digits as it reaches and pulls on the bar. We plan to address this limitation in futures studies by implementing video recording and computer vision capabilities that record the animal's paw movements as it interacts with the robot. Another limitation is that, much like in current rehabilitation practice for humans, rehabilitation training is only available to the animal for the short window of time it spends in the RUE enclosure compared to the amount of time it spends in its home cage. To address this, we are designing a version that will attach to the animal's home cage. By doing this we will provide the animal with a significantly longer exposure to the device that allows the animal to engage in the strength-training task as often as it chooses, similar to how a running wheel may be left in a cage to encourage exercise [40].

Another limitation of RUE, similar to the GSM, is that it does not directly measure grip strength, defined in the usual way as the squeezing force of the paw. Future studies should compare grip strength-measured as a paw squeezing force-to forelimb strength-measured with RUE or a similar device. The food delivery paradigm used with RUE (i.e. the fact that the food proximity to the mouth was made to depend on the force exerted), as well as the 'blocked trial' paradigm, could potentially be used with a device that measures squeezing force to motivate effort by the animal.

Chapter 5

Effects of adaptive challenge on strength recovery and the motivation to train in rats with a unilateral cervical contusion: Toward optimal challenge for unsupervised motor rehabilitation

In collaboration with Kelli Sharp, Sergi Perez, Berkey Gebrekristos

5.1 Abstract

It is currently unclear how manipulating the challenge level of training exercises after spinal cord injury simultaneously affects motivation and recovery of the trainee. We used a robotic device, RUE, to manipulate the challenge of a forelimb strengthtraining task in rats with a cervical spinal cord injury (SCI). 16 rats trained both before and after the injury to pull on a bar in order to retrieve a food reward. Following the injury, the animals trained for 38 weeks with either low force (low challenge) or high force (adaptive challenge) twice per week for three minutes. The challenge level for the high force group was set using an adaptive algorithm that adjusted the resistance from pull-to-pull based on the success or failure of the previous pull. We found that animals in the low-force group attempted twice as many pulls and were twice as successful at retrieving the food reward as the adaptive group. However, even though the adaptive group performed significantly fewer pulls, they showed greater recovery in weekly strength assessments. We use these findings to propose a framework for understanding the effect of challenge during unsupervised motor training. This framework proposes that there exists a challenge level that optimizes recovery for unsupervised training programs during which the trainee is given freedom to practice as frequently as desired. Thus, fewer repetitions at higher challenge levels will lead to greater recovery in some cases, while in other cases more repetitions at lower challenge levels will be more beneficial. An iterative experimental approach can be used to estimate the optimal challenge level for different rehabilitation tasks and trainee populations.

5.2 Introduction

Neurological injuries such as stroke or spinal cord injury (SCI) can lead to weakness or paralysis of the upper extremity, making activities of daily living–such as bathing, cooking, or eating–difficult to perform. One of the major goals in physical rehabilitation is to increase the use of the impaired limbs in activities of daily living, in order to improve independence. Physical rehabilitation usually begins at the hospital where the injury was initially treated, then moves to a specialized physical rehabilitation clinic for outpatient treatment, and finally ends at the patient's home. While the first two portions of the treatment are often carried out under high levels of supervision by rehabilitation clinicians, the majority of later rehabilitation is largely unsupervised. In supervised motor training, motivation to engage in training is derived in part from the clinicians supervising the training, who typically set and monitor target amounts of training. Motivation for unsupervised motor training is more patient-driven, and training amounts are patient determined.

Rehabilitation training is currently one of the most successful treatments available for stroke and spinal cord injury, [35] but the training must be intense and high in volume in order to drive the necessary plasticity that promotes recovery [118]. For example, rat models of SCI rehabilitation of the forelimb have shown that rehabilitation training leads to increased plasticity and recovery of function, but only when that training is intensive enough ([39]; [52]; [83]).

In an unsupervised training program, the trainee must choose the correct exercises and appropriate exercise parameters, such as length of training and challenge level of the exercise. This is currently difficult because there is limited knowledge of how these parameters effect recovery. In the case of the challenge level, its simultaneous effect on recovery and motivation is in particular not well understood. Broadly, it is known that choosing a challenge level that is too high can lead to frustration and low levels of self-efficacy [12]. On the other hand, choosing a challenge level that is too low can lead not only to boredom and a lack of engagement, but also may produce sub-optimal learning [41]. Ideally, these factors would be well-characterized in order to maximize recovery.

One important parameter that can be affected by the challenge level of a task is selfefficacy. Self-efficacy refers to a persons belief that he or she can execute a given task [11]. This concept is critical in physical rehabilitation and has been found to play a key role in patients' adherence to an exercise regime[54]. A goal when designing therapy exercises for supervised and unsupervised training programs, therefore, is to promote patients' self-efficacy in order to maximize therapy adherence.

In this chapter we evaluate the use of RUE as a training tool for a rodent model of cervical spinal cord injury. The goal of this study was to evaluate how the challenge level of a motor training task affects the motivation to engage in the task and the gains derived from this training. We hypothesized that the motivation to participate in the task would be higher for animals training at low difficulty levels. However, we hypothesized that animals training at a higher difficulty level would receive a larger benefit from the training program.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Animals

16 Sprague-Dawley female rats were used in this study. To motivate engagement with the task, they were placed on a food-restricted diet set at 85% of the normal amount

of food intake. All experimental protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the University of California, Irvine.

5.3.2 Experimental protocol

The experiment was divided into three experimental phases: 1) familiarization, 2) prelesion: adaptive vs. constant-force training, and 3) post-lesion: adaptive vs. constantforce training. Animals trained twice each week, usually on Wednesdays and Fridays, and a strength assessment was carried out once each week, usually on Mondays.

The first two phases of the experiment were designed to test the robotic devices capabilities as an assessment and training tool and were the focus of Chapter 4. The purpose of the third phase, and the focus of this chapter, was to understand the effects of two training methodologies: low-resistance training and adaptive training on the recovery of pulling strength of animals after a C5 unilateral contusion to the spinal cord.

Following the surgical procedure to administer the injury as described in Chapter 4, animals were given one week of rest from training. All animals then trained for two weeks with very low resistance on the bar (i.e. the minimal resistance needed to make the bar retract if it were pulled and then released; about 35g). These two weeks were used to ensure that the animals had recovered enough to perform the task. After these two weeks of low-resistance training, animals were randomly assigned to one of two training groups: Group 1 (n = 7), continued training with the same low-resistance as before and Group 2 (n = 5) trained using an adaptive training algorithm (described below). During this portion of the experiment, animals performed a total of 37 training sessions and 21 testing sessions spanning 201 days post-lesion. A training session was deemed complete when either the animal had attempted 30

pulls or 3 minutes of training had elapsed. There were two periods of time where the animals were not trained or assessed which correspond to periods of unavailability of the animal trainers.

5.3.3 Robotic device

We designed a robotic-based system, RUE, to assess and train rats in a volitional forelimb reach-and-pull motor task. As described in more detail in Chapter 4, the system is composed of a one degree-of-freedom linear actuator, an automated food reward mechanism, and an acrylic box to house the animals during training. For this experiment, a 20mg chocolate-flavored pellet (Bio Serv, Frenchtown,NJ) was placed in a plastic tray just outside of the acrylic box and out of reach for the animals. The plastic tray was mounted on a bar that was coupled to the linear actuator. The animals were trained to pull the bar in order to bring the food reward within reach.

5.3.4 Training and assessment conditions

The linear actuator was programmed to behave as a spring. Using a spring allows for the possibility of modulating the level of difficulty of the task in two ways: 1) by changing the range of motion required to complete the task, and/or 2) by changing the amount of force required to pull the spring. For this experiment, we kept the required range of motion constant and manipulated the amount of force required.

For a linear spring, the force is governed by the equation: $F = -K * \Delta x$, where K is the spring constant, and Δx is the distance that the spring has been moved from its rest position. Since the required range of motion was constant, we modulated the level of difficulty by changing a single parameter: the spring coefficient, K. We will now describe how we changed the spring coefficient in order to train and assess the animals under different conditions.

Low-force strength training

In the low-force training condition the resistance of the bar was set constant by setting both Δx and K to constant values (i.e. F = constant). This led to a peak resistance force on the bar of 36.7g, a value well below the maximum forces previously computed for each animal.

Adaptive strength training

In the adaptive training condition, we sought to train animals close to their maximum capabilities. To achieve this, we implemented an algorithm previously developed by our research group [105]. The algorithm was designed to set the steady-state success rate of a subject performing a motor task by modulating the difficulty level based on the subject's performance. Specifically, this algorithm increases the difficulty level by a step size, δ , following a successful trial and decreases the difficulty level by a value proportional to the step size, $\alpha\delta$, following an unsuccessful trial.

To implement the adaptive algorithm in this experiment, where the level of difficulty is directly proportional to the spring constant, we needed to specify three parameters: 1) the step size (ΔK), 2) the step ratio (α), and 3) the initial spring constant (K_0).

The step size, ΔK , determines the convergence rate and variability of the difficulty level. Choosing ΔK requires a trade-off. A high ΔK value means that each iteration will have a big change relative to its previous value; this is good in terms of convergence rate, but leads to a high variability in the difficulty level experienced by the

animal. On the other hand, a low ΔK value leads to a stable algorithm with low variability, but a much slower convergence rate. For this experiment we chose a ΔK value of 0.02N/m.

The step ratio, α , is related to the success rate (SR) of a training session by the equation: $\alpha = \frac{SR}{(1-SR)}$. For this experiment, we chose a value of alpha = 0.4. This means that the steady-state success rate of the animals for a given session should be around 30%.

The final parameter, the initial spring constant, K_0 , defines the starting level of difficulty for a given training session. Setting this value too far away from the value at convergence–either too high or too low–means that the animal would have spent most of the training session at an incorrect difficulty level. For the first session, this parameter was set at $0.1\frac{N}{m}$. For the subsequent session, the initial spring constant was set to 80% of the maximum K value reached in the previous session. This was done to reduce the time to convergence of the difficulty level for each given session.

Strength assessment

To measure the maximum force that an animal could generate we unexpectedly 'blocked' the bar on some trials by setting K at a value 5 times above the animal's maximum-recorded K value. Using this setup of a very stiff spring we assumed that the animal exerted its maximum pulling force, as the animal volitionally increased its force in response to the blocked bar that kept the food pellet out of reach.

The assessment was carried out by first allowing the animal to pull for a few times with very low resistance on the bar–to reinforce the association between pulling and food reward–and then unexpectedly increasing the value of K.

87

5.3.5 Unilateral cervical lesion to the spinal cord

Following training for 11 weeks with the robotic device, the animals were subject to a C5 unilateral contusion to the spinal cord. Injuries were delivered using an Infinite Horizon impactor (Precision Systems & Instrumentation, Lexington, KY) set to deliver an injury of 100kdynes. For a full description of the surgery to administer the lesion and the post-operative care, please refer to Chapter 4.

5.3.6 Finding the optimal challenge for unsupervised motor training

We defined challenge level as: (Challenge Level = 1 - Success Rate). Thus an animal with a high success rate had a low challenge level and one with a low success rate had a high challenge level. The challenge level, like the success rate, ranges in values between 0 and 1.

To find the optimal challenge we needed to compute, for each animal, 1) the repetitions performed in a session, and 2) an estimate the gains in strength from a single repetition. The repetitions were defined as the average number of successful trials in a given training session. To find the gains in strength from a single repetition we used a linear regression on the forces recorded during the force assessments with days post-lesion as the single regressor. We then used this regression line to compute the total gain as the change in gains from the first to the last assessment. The total gain was then divided by the number of repetitions obtained in step 1 to find the gain-per-repetition.

Using these two parameters, averaged across animals for each training condition, we defined the relations: 1) repetitions per session versus challenge level, and 2) gain

per repetition versus challenge level. We then used these relations and the measured challenge level of each animal to find the overall challenge level that would theoretically optimize recovery for this task.

5.3.7 Data analysis

We extracted the maximum forces exerted by each animal during each assessment and training session. The maximum force was defined as the single highest value of force recorded during a given session. For each training session we also extracted both the total number of pulls attempted and the total number of successful pulls. An attempted pull was defined as movement of the bar exceeding a 'start-distance threshold', defined as 3mm. Successful pulls were those that in addition to the startdistance threshold also exceeded a 'successful-distance threshold', defined as 20mm. Note that when the bar was pulled past the successful-distance threshold, the food pellet just passed through the window, allowing the animal to take it with its mouth. We programmed to robot to hold the bar at this position for 2 seconds before retracting to allow the animal to take the food.

In the post-lesion analysis of the testing forces we were interested in the change in force relative to the pre-lesion assessments. We therefore calculated the change in force (expressed as a percentage) relative to the average maximum forces exhibited in the last three assessments prior to injury. We did this calculation for each animal and each assessment post-lesion.

For each training session we also extracted both the total number of pulls attempted and the total number of successful pulls. An attempted pull was defined as movement of the bar exceeding the start-distance threshold. Successful pulls were those

89

that in addition to the start-distance threshold also exceeded the successful-distance threshold.

Statistical analysis

We used a linear mixed model to test the effects that training condition had on the forces exerted during testing and training, as well as on the total number and the percentage of successful repetitions in each training session. The training condition (adaptive vs. low-force) and number of days post-injury (DPI) were set as the fixed factors and animals as the random factor. We evaluated the main effects and their interaction at a significance level of alpha = 0.05. All analyses with the linear mixed models were carried out for the data starting on the day that the animals were separated into their training groups.

For the average values obtained by each animal during each training or testing session we also conducted a t-test to identify if there was a significant effect of the training condition on each of the following outcome measures: 1) amount of strength recovery, 2) maximum training forces, 3) total number of pull attempts during training, and 4) percentage of successful attempts during training. We set the significance level for these comparisons at a significance level of alpha = 0.05.

Post-processing and extraction of outcome measures was done using scripts built with Matlab (Mathworks; v7.8). Linear mixed model analyses were done using the R statistical package (R-package v3.0.1). Results are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Exclusion of animals from the analysis

5.4.2 Adaptive strength training led to higher training forces

Prior to group separation (DPI < 26) both groups trained with low resistance. Once the groups were separated, the maximum forces experienced in training were higher for the adaptive group, as expected (Figure 5.1, linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p < 0.001). Following group separation, the maximum forces experienced across training sessions were, on average, 5.5 times higher for the adaptive group than for the low-force group. The average of the maximum forces across training sessions was $36.74g \pm 0g$ for the low-force group and $202.70g \pm 39.78g$ for the adaptive group. The training forces for the adaptive group increased through training (linear mixed model, significant interaction term of group and DPI, p < 0.001).

5.4.3 SCI decrease strength and adaptive strength training led to greater recovery in strength

The animals' maximum forces measured during blocked strength assessments decreased, on average, by 30% following the injury (Figure 5.2). Over the course of the next 200 days of training, the adaptive group exhibited greater recovery in strength, but the difference relative to the low-force group only approached significance (Figure 5.2, linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p = 0.085). The rate of recovery for all animals, defined as the gains in strength across DPI, was significantly



Figure 5.1: **Maximum forces during training sessions** - Animals in the low-force group trained in all sessions with a constant resistnace of $36.74g \pm 0g$. Animals in the adaptive group trained with significantly larger forces (linear mixed model, significant interaction term of group and DPI, p < 0.001) which were on average $202.70g \pm 39.78g$ throughout all training sessions. Stars mark a significant difference at a given training session as measured with a t-test. Errorbars represent the standard error of the mean.

different from 0 (linear mixed model, main effect of DPI p = 0.0029), but it was not different between the two groups (linear mixed model, interaction effect p = 0.13).



Figure 5.2: **Recovery of strength following the cervical spinal cord injury** - Animals in the adaptive group showed greater recovery than the low-force group, but this difference failed to reach significance (linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p = 0.085) The rate of recovery (i.e. recovery in force as a function of time) was significant for both groups (linear mixed model, main effect of DPI p = 0.0029), but it was not a significantly different between the groups (linear mixed model, interaction effect p = 0.13). Stars mark a significant difference at a given training session as measured with a t-test. Errorbars represent the standard error of the mean.

5.4.4 Blocking the pull bar led rats to pull harder

Animals in the adaptive group produced forces that were, on average, 1.9 times higher during the blocked assessments than the maximum forces recorded during the training sessions ($386.73g \pm 43.44g$ during assessments versus $202.70g \pm 39.78g$ during training).
5.4.5 Adaptive strength training led to a decreased engagement in the task

Animals in the adaptive group attempted a significantly lower number of pulls than animals in the low-force group (Figure 5.3, linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p < 0.001). On average, animals in the adaptive group attempted 15.7 ± 3.7 repetitions in each training system, while animals in the low-force group attempted 26.4 ± 2.5 repetitions in an average training session.

Following the injury, and prior to group separation, both groups attempted a similar number of repetitions (Figure 5.3, t-test, p = 0.64) during the low-resistance training provided in this period. Once the animals were separated into the training conditions, the average number of attempts between groups diverged significantly (Figure 5.3, linear mixed model interaction effect, p < 0.001).

5.4.6 Adaptive strength training led to a lower success rate during training

The success rate was significantly lower for animals in the adaptive group when compared to animals in the low-force group (Figure 4, linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p < 0.001). These rates diverged significantly from one one another following group separation (Figure 4, linear mixed model interaction effect, p = 0.001).

The average success rate, across all training sessions, was $41.14\% \pm 8.41\%$ for the adaptive and $92.03\% \pm 6.54\%$ for the low-force group. For the adaptive group this success rate is higher than the target 30% success rate defined by the step ratio parameter of the adaptive algorithm.



Figure 5.3: **Total pull attempts in a training session** - Animals in the low-force group attempted almost twice as many pulls as animals in the adaptive group. This difference was significant throughout the 200 days of training (linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p < 0.001). Average repetitions per training sessions were 26.4 ± 2.5 for the low-force group and 15.7 ± 3.7 for the adaptive group. Stars mark a significant difference at a given training session as measured with a t-test. Errorbars represent the standard error of the mean.



Figure 5.4: **Success rate in the pulling task** - Animals in the low-force group were significantly more successful at completing the task than animals in the adaptive group (linear mixed model main effect of training condition, p < 0.001). The average success rate was $92.03\% \pm 6.54\%$ for the low-force and $41.14\% \pm 8.41\%$ for the adaptive group. Stars mark a significant difference at a given training session as measured with a t-test. Errorbars represent the standard error of the mean.

5.4.7 The optimal challenge for unsupervised motor training framework

Taking these findings, we can estimate the optimal challenge for promoting recovery after SCI for this task under the following assumptions. First, we assume that there is a proportional relationship between the challenge level of the task and the gains obtained per repetition (Figure 5.5A). We also assume there is an inversely propotional relationship between the challenge level of the task and the number of successful repetitions an animal will complete in a training session (Figure 5.5B). Multiplying these two relationships leads to parabolic relationship with a single maximum for the expected gain per training sessions versus the challenge level presented in that session. From this mode, we propose the optimal challenge level that optimizes motor recovery in unsupervised training programs where the trainee chooses how much to engage in training. For this experiment, we found the optimal challenge level to be 36.6%, or a success rate at the task of 63.4% (Figure 5.5C).

5.4.8 Training conditions did not affect the weights of the animals

We tracked the weight of the animals across the experiment in order to monitor their health. The change in weight from the onset of injury ($292.85g \pm 4.69g$) to the end of the rehabilitation program ($303.59g \pm 7.35g$) was not significant (p = 0.23). The weights of the animals in each training conditions were comparable at the end of training (t-test, p = 0.64).



Figure 5.5: **Real-World Challenge Point Framework** - The Real-World Challenge Point Framework was derived using experimental data. For all diagrams, the x-axis represents the challenge level, which was defined as 1 - Sucess Rate. This optimal point is derived from the product of the component relations between number of pulls and challenge level (left), and gains in strength and challenge level (middle). Because of the opposite slopes in these relations, the product yields a parabola (right) fro which we can readily obtain the optimal challenge level. For this task, the optimal challenge of 0.36 means that animals should train with a success rate of 0.64, or 64%.

5.5 Discussion

This study examined the effects that manipulating the challenge level of a forelimb strength-training task had on the recovery of rats following a unilateral contusion to the C5 vertebrae. We specifically quantified how training with low forces versus training with an adaptive algorithm that required animals to train with higher forces affected the recovery in strength and the number of repetitions that the animals achieved during each training session.

5.5.1 Adaptive strength training led to larger strength recovery with a smaller therapy dosage

Animals that trained with the adaptive algorithm attempted less repetitions and were less successful at completing the task than animals in the low-force group. This suggests that these animals were less motivated to perform the task. However, they showed greater strength recovery than animals in the low-force group, thus implying that the benefits in strength recovery per repetition were higher when training with higher forces.

5.5.2 Both training groups were challenged at suboptimal levels

The shape of the curves for total repetitions and success rate of the low-force group is comparable to curves seen regularly for recovery or initial learning of a motor task. However, the fact that they reach a ceiling effect, as evidenced by a success rate close to 100%, indicates that these animals were challenged at a suboptimal level. On the other hand, following group separation, animals in the adaptive group quickly lowered the total number of pull attempts suggesting a decreased level of motivation, or perhaps a diminished level of self-efficacy in their ability to perform the task.

5.5.3 Implications for unsupervised motor training in animal and human models

For rehabilitation treatments involving unsupervised motor training where the trainee is free to choose the amount and frequency of training, it is important to challenge the individual at a level that is close to, or at, their optimal level. This optimal challenge level is subject-specific and may change over time as the trainee's abilities and feelings of self-efficacy evolve.

Further analyses should be done where the animal is exposed to the training device for a longer period of time. This study was carried out with training sessions that were conducted twice and week and had a maximum length of 3 minutes. Another study of forelimb function rehabilitation had animals train 6 times a week for 10 minutes each day [39]. By re-designing RUE to allow for fully unsupervised training, we expect we can expose animals to training for multiple hours per day. This should lead to increased recovery, but most importantly, to an increase understanding of the animals' voluntary training frequency.

5.5.4 How to find the optimal challenge level for motor training

Much like the process taken in this study, we propose that finding the optimal challenge level for an individual in a particular motor task could use an iterative approach similar to the one used in a gradient ascent optimization algorithm. First an initial challenge level must be chosen and training carried out at this level to assess both the participant's volitional training frequency and the gains in performance. Once this data point is obtained, a second challenge level, above or below the current challenge level should be tested. Again, the volitional training frequency and gains in performance must be computed at this challenge level. Using the data points from training at each of these challenge levels one can assess the appropriateness of the challenge levels and choose a third challenge level on which to train, as shown in the Results section.

We would argue that the search should start with challenge levels that are on the easier side in order to foster the participant's self-efficacy at the task. This is because self-efficacy at the beginning of an exercise regime has been shown to be a strong predictor of adherence to the training [82].

In conclusion, this study shows how the challenge level of a motor training task in a rat model of SCI can affect both the recovery and the intrinsic motivation to train. We suggest there is an optimal challenge level that maximizes recovery.

Chapter 6

The Bimanual Vending Machine: A robotic device for unsupervised hand movement training during neural repair of a cervical spinal cord injury in a primate model

In collaboration with Albert Sans and the University of California Spinal Cord Injury Consortium

6.1 Abstract

Successful neurorepair for sensory motor recovery following spinal cord injury (SCI) will likely require using intensive movement training to supplement cell- and drugbased treatments. Currently, intensive movement training for primate models of cervical SCI is labor intensive, requiring one-on-one interaction with a human trainer. We developed a robotic device for providing in-cage movement training of the hand following unilateral injury to the cervical spinal cord. Such an injury leaves an animal with one functional hand and one impaired hand; therefore the animal rarely uses the impaired hand in a spontaneous way. The robotic device motivates in-cage exercises of the impaired upper extremity by requiring the animal to interact with a robotic manipulandum with the impaired hand in order to deliver a food reward to the other hand. This chapter presents a description of the device design and example usage data before and after a SCI. Animals readily learned to use the device to achieve repetitive and quantifiable, in-cage, self-training of the impaired hand. This provides a proof of concept that robotic training can induce animals who normally show little spontaneous use of the impaired hand to repeatedly exercise their impaired hand in their cage with minimum trainer interaction.

6.2 Introduction

Animal models are essential for developing neurorepair treatments for spinal cord injury (SCI). They provide a means to test and understand the mechanisms of such treatments, including drug therapies, regenerative treatments, physical rehabilitation, or combinations of the three, allowing them to be optimized for delivery to humans. Experiments with candidate treatments usually begin with rodent models. Subsequent testing in nonhuman primate models is rarer, and this may account for some difficulties that have been experienced during translation to humans, because some treatments were not optimized for primate anatomy and physiology. To address this problem, the University of California Spinal Cord Injury Consortium has developed a nonhuman primate model to test the potential of candidate neural repair interventions for SCI recovery [80]. This model seeks to better understand the endogenous plasticity previously found in nonhuman primates and humans and to test the translation of potential treatments for human clinical trials in light of this plasticity.

One promising approach for SCI repair is neuroregeneration, such as with stem cell therapies, which are intended to create new circuitry that connect the brain and spinal cord [66]. This new circuitry is expected to involve the regeneration of injured axons or the sprouting of axons unharmed by the initial lesion. Several studies have found that axons can in fact be made to regenerate across the location of the injury and create synapses with neurons below the lesion ([65]; [21]). However, robust functional recovery has not been obtained and in some cases, regeneration has caused negative effects such as increased pain or spasticity ([64]; [37]; [46]).

The fact that functional recovery may not occur even after axons have been induced to successfully cross the lesion site and connect with circuitry below the lesion highlights the fact that new axons may not automatically replicate pre-lesion circuitry. One approach to addressing this issue is to use rehabilitation training to provide mechanical stimulation that enhances the tissue microenvironment, helping cells integrate in a functional way [4]. Research in both animal models and humans has shown that rehabilitation exercise enhances sensory motor recovery following SCI ([37]; [28]; [22]; [67]) as well as stroke ([58]; [55], [108]). Rehabilitation exercises could provide guidance clues or shape synaptic connectivity so that target circuitry learns to produce functional output patterns.

Recovery of hand function is a high priority for individuals with cervical SCI, or about 50% of people with SCI [7]. In the current experimental approach used by the UC Spinal Cord Injury Consortium, animals receive a cervical SCI via either a lateral hemisection or lateral contusion. This injury leaves the animal with one functional hand

as well as fairly robust use of the legs, reducing the suffering of the animal since the animal can ambulate, groom, and feed independently. However, because the animal has one functional hand and two functional legs, it rarely uses the hemiparetic hand, and thus does not spontaneously generate the motor activity that is thought to be needed to shape new circuitry.

Therefore, in the current experimental paradigm, monkeys are evaluated on a battery of hand training exercises to measure recovery and encourage use of the hand [81]. Execution of the battery requires that the animal be removed from its cage, sat in a chair, and assisted in performing the exercises. The labor-intensive nature of this approach currently limits the training of animals to a total of about 1.5 hours per week. It is unclear if this dosage is sufficient to drive the creation and strengthening of neural connections necessary for functional improvements. Studies in humans suggest that training duration of at least several hours per day are needed to optimally induce recovery after stroke [61].

Current options for providing unsupervised training to hemiparetic animals are limited and are mostly based on behavioral tasks. The UC Spinal Cord Injury Consortium has developed a series of exercises and assessments to monitor the functional recovery of the animal's upper extremity [81]. These tests include 4 tasks in a restraint chair where the sole focus is on hand training, treadmill training, and open-field training in which animals are placed in a larger cage and given specific tasks to retrieve food rewards. These tests are very time consuming and require extensive involvement by the animal trainers. Moreover, managing a large number of animals means that each animal only gets a few hours of hand-specific training per week. This is likely insufficient to drive the desired level of functional recovery.

We developed a robotic device, the Bimanual Vending Machine (BVM), to increase hand training dosage in this primate model of cervical SCI. The BVM provides a means

to administer unsupervised, in-cage, and self-initiated training of the hand. It requires animals to simultaneously use both hands in order to retrieve a food reward while at the same time recording the animal's interaction with the device. This chapter describes the design of the BVM and provides a proof-of-concept of the device using initial experimental testing.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Animals and injury model

All experimental protocols described in this chapter were carried out in the California National Primate Research Center at UC Davis with IACUC approval. To date, 14 nonhuman primates have interacted with the BVM. The animals were Rhesus macaque monkeys between 6 to 10 years old, who participated in other protocols that involved hand and locomotor training, including treadmill walking and open field exercises. Some of these animals received an injury to the right cervical spinal cord at the C7 level, either via lateral hemicontusion or lateral hemisection, impairing the right hand. For a complete description of the training activities and injuries see [81].

6.3.2 Robotic device

Overview

The Bimanual Vending Machine (BVM) consists of six main parts (Figure 6.1A): 1) a three degrees-of-freedom robotic manipulandum, consisting of a commercially available parallel, haptic robot for force feedback (Novint Falcon, Novint Technologies); 2)

a set of handles that can be attached to the robotic manipulandum (Figure 6.1B); 3) a custom-designed automatic food treat dispenser (the food treat we have used is an almond, but can be anything almond-sized); 4) a motorized food delivery cart that brings the dispensed food within range of the monkeys cage and can indicate its state using a colored LED; 5) a video camera that records the monkeys hand movements; and 6) a computer interface that allows the trainer to set the training parameters and records the sensor data from the training session (Figure 6.1C). Optical proximity sensors mounted on the food dispenser and the food treat. The data recorded by the computer interface includes the position, velocity, and forces of the manipulandum as well as the total number of successful repetitions, defined as movement of the food cart toward the animal followed by removal of the treat, and total training time for each session.

To facilitate training of the animal on how to use the device, the food reward tray is equipped with a color-based light system that provides cues about the state of the system. The system presents a different color to the animal when the food cart is: 1) empty (blue), 2) loaded with a reward (red), or 3) in the process of being loaded with a food reward (green).

The device was assembled atop a lightweight aluminum frame that can be hung on the cage front. The total weight was kept under 20*lbs* for portability. In addition to the lightweight design, the system is battery-powered and is controlled by a simple graphical user interface implemented on a touch-based computer.



Figure 6.1: **The Bimanual Vending Machine** - **A.** Bimanual Vending Machine. The main components of the device are the haptic robot, reward system (i.e. food dispenser), and a central computer to control the device. **B.** Library of handles. Three handles have been designed to geometrically force specific grip types as the animal interacts with the device. **C.** User interface for setting up a training session. Animal trainers control the parameters of a training session by means of an easy-to-use graphic interface. This sample screen shows the selection of the required range of motion (ROM) and force levels required to complete a repetition.

Control strategy

The device requires the active participation of the animal to simultaneously use both hands to retrieve a food reward. Specifically, animals use their right (i.e. injured) hand to manipulate the handle attached to the haptic robot. As the animal performs the desired hand exercise with the handle, the robot measures performance of the exercise, characterizing it with a scalar 'score' that varies from 0 to 1. For example, in 'pull mode', the score is 0 at the rest position of the handle, and 1 when the monkey pulls the handle to the limit of its range of motion toward the cage (see below). The motorized cart containing a food reward is programmed to move toward the cage in proportion to the score. It moves within reach of the monkey's left hand for retrieval when the score enters the approximate range of 0.9 - 1. Because of this proportional-type control, if the animal releases the handle, the cart quickly retracts out of reach of the animal. This prevents the animal from cheating by using only one hand to both manipulate the haptic robot and retrieve the food reward.

The trainer can select the complexity and challenge level of the desired grasping movement by choosing how different range of motion or grasp-force targets map to the score. The trainer can also change the handle attached to the haptic robot to require different grasp types (Figure 6.1B).

Training modes

We have initially developed two training modes: pulling mode and bump mode. In pulling mode, the haptic robot is programmed to behave as a spring-damper system. The resting position of the spring is defined so that the handle retracts away from the animal when the animal releases it. Pulling the handle towards the cage causes the food tray to move towards the cage in proportion to the score, defined as the relative distance from 0 to 1 that the handle is pulled in the x-axis (i.e. horizontally toward the cage), with respect to the range of motion of the robot in this direction. This corresponds to a pull distance of about 12 cm. Only movements in the x-axis increase the score. As soon as the animal releases the handle, the robot retracts the handle to its resting position and the food tray mimics this motion. As described above, this proportional strategy requires the animal to continuously hold the handle with one hand while he or she retrieves the food reward with the other hand. Trainers can modify the range of motion, the resistance force of the spring, or both in order to determine the challenge level of this exercise.

Bump mode is a simpler mode of training that we implemented to allow animals with more severe hand impairment to interact with the robot. In this mode, the manipulandum was again set as a spring with its resting position so as to pull the handle away from the cage when the handle is not touched. However, in bump mode, animals are rewarded for any interaction, in any direction, which moves the handle away from its rest position. That is, the score is the distance the handle moves from its rest position in any direction, rather than the distance in the positive horizontal direction. Again, to maintain the requirement of bimanual training, the food tray retracts quickly as soon as the animal releases it. In this mode, if an animal is unable to grasp the handle or generate enough force to pull the handle, simply bumping the handle away from its rest position will deliver a reward.

6.4 Results

To date, the BVM has trained 14 animals in pre- and post-lesion states in their home cage for more than 100 training sessions.

All animals trained with the device were able to use it, both pre- and post-lesion. Reports from the trainers indicate that the animals readily learned how to use the device following 1-3 short familiarization sessions. A typically familiarization session involved the trainer placing the BVM in front of the animals cage, then hand delivering a food reward when the animal interacted in any way with the handle. As the animal began interacting more frequently with the handle, the trainer transitioned to allowing the automatic food delivery system to deliver the food reward to the animal.

As an example, we describe use of the device by one animal that trained in both training modes and used all three handles (Table 1). This particular animal took part in 12 training sessions, 9 pre-lesion, and 3 post-lesion. In the pre-lesion sessions, it trained with the hook (n = 4), the round peg (n = 3) and the Y-handle (n = 2). Using the hook it trained for a total of 21.3 minutes, performing 96 successful repetitions for an average of 4.5 successful repetitions per minute. Using the round peg, it trained for a total of 2.4 minutes and performed 35 successful repetitions for an average of 14.5 successful repetitions per minute. Using the round peg, it trained for a total of 2.4 minutes and performed 35 successful repetitions for an average of 14.5 successful repetitions per minute. Using the Y-handle, it trained for over 6 minutes without performing any successful repetitions. Comments from the trainers indicate that the animal was 'wary' of this handle. As expected, using different handles during training led the animal to use different grasping strategies (Figure 6.2).

Following the lateral hemisection injury to the animal, the ensuing weakness of the impaired (right) hand rendered the task of pulling the hook difficult for the animal. Thus, in pull mode, the animal adopted a strategy of first using its unimpaired (left) hand to bring the hook close to the cage (Figure 6.3A). It then grasped the hook with its impaired (right) hand (Figure 6.3B), and held it in place while it retrieved the food reward with its unimpaired hand (Figure 6.3C). Once it retrieved the food, it released its impaired hand from the handle by using its unimpaired hand to unwind the impaired fingers from the handle. In bump mode, the animal used a similar strategy

Table 6.1: Animal 37143 trained for 12 sessions with the BVM. It performed both the pulling and bump modes. It also trained with all 3 handles, although it was not willing to engage in training with the Y-handle.

37143							
		Pulling mode			Bump mode		
Total sessions	12	11			1		
		Hook	Round peg	Y-handle	Hook	Round peg	Y-handle
Pre-lesion							
Number of sessions	9	4	3	2	0	0	0
Total time (minutes)		21.29	2.42	6.26	0	0	0
Successful repetitions		96	35	0	0	0	0
Average $\frac{reps}{min}$		4.51	14.48	0	0	0	0
Post-lesion							
Number of sessions	3	2	0	0	1	0	0
Total time (minutes)		4.56	0	0	5.49	0	0
Successful repetitions		33	0	0	36	0	0
Average $\frac{reps}{min}$		7.23	0	0	6.56	0	0

of using the unimpaired hand to pull the handle close to the cage before grasping it with the impaired hand.

The robot acquired data regarding the movement of the haptic robot during training (Figure 6.4). The data recorded includes the position, velocity, and forces applied in the X, Y, and Z axes. This data provides insight into the quantity of the movements executed by the animal, and could potentially be used to gain insight into the quality of each movement performed.

6.5 Discussion

We developed the Bimanual Vending Machine (BVM) to provide self-initiated, in-cage, quantifiable hand training exercises to monkeys that have received a cervical SCI. Animals successfully used the BVM before and after a cervical-level injury to the spinal cord. Reports from the animal trainers indicate that animals were able to learn to



Figure 6.2: **Use of different grasps to complete the task.** - The use of the different handles successfully forced animals to perform different grasps in order to interact with the robot. This provides an additional means to modulate the difficulty of the task (i.e. some handles may be harder/easier to use than others.



Figure 6.3: **Pulling strategy following cervical lesion to the spinal cord** - Following the injury, the animal is unable to perform the pulling task with its impaired hand. The animal then finds a solution in which it pulls the handle within reach using its unimpaired hand (A), and then proceeds to curl the fingers of its impaired hand around the hook (B). Finally, once it feels it can hold on to the hook (remember that the hook is constantly pulling away from the animal) it reaches for the food with its impaired hand.



Figure 6.4: **Sample training data for animal 37143** - Sample set of data for 10 training sessions by animal 37143. The sessions are labeled on the y-axis in chronological order from 1 to 10. The first six sessions were performed prior to lesion while the last three occurred after. In the four three sessions it used the hook to perform a total of 96 repetitions in 21.29 minutes. In the following three sessions it used the round peg and performed 35 repetitions in 2.42 minutes. In the last three sessions, it used the hook to train in both pulling (33 repetitivens in 4.56 minutes) and bump mode (36 repetitions in 5.49 minutes).

perform the desired bimanual training within a few training sessions both when naïve to the BVM and following the injuries. These initial results are a proof of concept of the device's potential for providing the rehabilitation therapy of the hand required for these animals. Specifically, the animals 1) were willing to engage in the training task 2) used both hands during training, and 3) achieved in-cage and self-initiated training without constant monitoring by the trainers.

An important component of the BVM lies in the development of training algorithms that accommodate the animal's physical abilities. While the initial training was carried out using only the pulling mode, we quickly realized that this mode may not allow animals with diminished forelimb control after the lesion to obtain food reward if they cannot grasp the handle. As a result, we created the bump mode to allow minimal grasping effort by the animals while still requiring them to use both hands to retrieve the food rewards.

The use of a robotic device for rehabilitation therapy allows for interesting possibilities to automatically and progressively challenge an animal during training. For example, we recently developed an algorithm for the BVM for automatically shaping an animal to switch between different target exercises, such as moving from bump mode to pull mode [99]. The algorithm is designed to reward trainees with different physical capabilities at comparable rates during the transition, to avoid frustration, while still causing the trainee to shift its behavior to a target mode. We have tested this training algorithm with human subjects [99] and shown that it can achieve these goals for this primate population. One interesting result was that artificially increasing reward during training decreased the subjects' tendency to engage in exploration and therefore slowed learning, particularly when we changed the target movement. The BVM will provide a mechanism to study phenomena such as this, an understanding of which will allow optimization of rehabilitation therapy during neural repair attempts. We have not yet shown that the device can help an animal achieve the number of repetitions that is currently thought to be needed to trigger plasticity after a neurologic injury, 300-400 per day [61]. In the present study, the animal's pull rate varied from 5-15 pulls per minute. Taking as an example 10 pulls per minute, it would require 30-40 minutes of interaction per day to achieve 300-400 repetitions. In the present study, animals typically trained with the device for only a few minutes before losing interest, likely because they became full from eating the food rewards. It may be possible to achieve 30-40 minutes per day by dispersing training through the day, or by making the robot available continuously to the animal. We may also be able to train the animal to perform multiple movements before obtaining a single food reward, for example by dispensing food only on the Nth successful pull.

A key goal in both regenerative medicine and rehabilitation training is to aid the body in using its innate healing potential to maximize function [4]. In the case of combination therapies, one might expect that this innate healing potential will interact in a complex way with the combined treatments [90]. For example, one interaction might be that of competition for restored neural resources. Following a SCI or regeneration of axons injured by a SCI, the motor system must relearn to control movement with a diminished availability of neural resources. Movement training in one task may cause a competition for those resources, leading to diminished performance in motor tasks that are not explicitly trained [17]. In terms of the device we have developed here, competition would imply that it is necessary to understand how the training modes chosen maximize recovery across tasks in a way that is most functionally beneficial to the trainee.

We hypothesize, that in accordance with a model developed from large clinical studies of stroke recovery [102], the gains in strength and dexterity derived from training with the BVM will translate into more frequent use of the hand in activities of daily living. We hypothesize that this enhanced spontaneous hand use, as well as the training with the device, will provide the motor activity needed for regenerative therapy interventions to create functional recovery of the hand, thereby accelerating the discovery of treatments that can be applied to humans with a spinal cord injury. This will ultimately lead to the appropriate assessment of treatments and their possibilities for translation into human clinical trials. By automating intensive training, we hope to ensure that neural repair for the clinically important problem of hand function restoration after SCI does not fail to reach human clinical trials.

Chapter 7

Summary of the major contributions of this dissertation

The work presented in this dissertation sits at the intersection of the fields of robotics, neuroscience, and psychology. It focused on two main areas: 1) the effects of the challenge level of a motor task on the motivation and performance during and after training, and 2) the development of robotic devices to provide volitional training and rehabilitation of the upper extremity for rodents and nonhuman primate models of cervical spinal cord injury. In conclusion, we provide a summary of the major findings in these two focus areas and their relationship to key themes in psychology of motor training and neural repair.

7.1 Challenge level of a motor task affects motor training and perception of the task

In Chapters 2, 3 and 5 we presented results indicating that the challenge level of a motor training task had important effects on the motivation of the trainee and the long-term performance gains obtained from training.

In the first experiment on motor learning, unimpaired humans trained golf putting in a virtual golf environment. We showed that manipulating participants' performance errors-by reducing or amplifying them-had significant effects on how participants perceived the task. Specifically, while performance errors were being manipulated, participants whose errors were being reduced reported a positive perception of the task, while those whose errors were being amplified reported a negative perception. Remarkably, 1 to 3 days later, when participants trained in the same motor task, but this time without any error manipulation, those participants whose errors had been previously amplified once again reported a negative perception towards the task, even though their performance was comparable to the other participants.

These findings are in line with findings in psychology of sports research that indicate that athletes' perceptions of the difficulty of a task are influenced by their performance in the task. For example, golf players' perceive hole size to be larger when they have good recent performance at putting [116]. Other studies involving Americanfootball [115] and softball [117] have found similar results in which the participant's perception of the target size for the task is influenced by their perceived ability to perform the task.

Such phenomena relate to the psychological concept of self-efficacy. Self-efficacy refers to a persons perception of their ability to achieve a specific goal [11]. Self-

efficacy theory was first introduced in the context of phobias, but has since been expanded into many other fields. Of special interest for this dissertation is the use of self-efficacy theory to explain why somebody may or may not participate in an exercise regime. Oman et al. 1998 showed that the degree of self-efficacy prior to starting an exercise regime predicted adoption and early adherence to the regime.

This theory of self-efficacy has important implications in the fields of robotic-based motor learning and rehabilitation robotics. Specifically, robotic devices may serve as tools that increase a participant's self-efficacy at a motor task. Much like they did for participants in the golf experiment whose errors were being reduced, robots can assist a participant to achieve a certain degree of success at the task, even if that level of performance does not match their skill level. For somebody with a motor impairment, who may have lost faith in his or her body's ability to perform a motor task as a result of a neurological injury such as stroke or spinal cord injury [92], a robotic-based intervention has the potential of increasing their self-efficacy. This idea of increased self-efficacy from robotic therapy could help explain why people may continue to improve even days, or months, after the intervention ([60]), or why bringing people above a certain threshold of hand function results in increased use of the impaired hand [102].

In the second experiment rats trained on a self-initiated pulling task with either a low or high challenge level, where the high challenge level was set with an adaptive algorithm from trial to trial based on the success of the previous trial. In this experiment we found that animals that trained with the low-challenge level, and experienced a significantly higher success rate than the high-challenge group, were more willing to execute the pulling task, as demonstrated by a total number of pull attempts that was twice as much as the high-challenge group. In this context we may ask, was this due to the animal's perception of its ability to succeed at the task? Are animal's behaviors consistent with the theory of self-efficacy? We currently do not have an answer for this latter question, and the idea of self-efficacy in animals is one that should be explored further.

In summary, the first major contribution of this dissertation is providing an increased understanding of how robotic interventions that modulate challenge level affect motivation and performance. Essentially, by making tasks more challenging, robots can improve performance gains, but discourage willingness to practice. Conversely, by making tasks less challenging, robots can reduce performance gains but encourage willingness to practice. These are some of the first findings that describe a psychomotivational dynamical effect of robotic training, and future research should continue to explore how robotic-based interventions can affect the psychological aspects of learning a new motor task, or re-learning after a neurological injury.

7.2 Development of robotic training devices for animal models of neural repair

A major focus in the field of robotic rehabilitation is retraining the upper extremity. For humans, there is a wide array of devices available to provide therapy (for a comprehensive list see [86]). In animal models, however, this number is limited to only a few for rodents ([112]; [104]), and none (to the best of our knowledge) for nonhuman primates. Thus, a major need in the field of rehabilitation research is the development of robotic devices that can be used to deliver controlled amounts of upper extremity training in animal models. Such devices will be essential tools for evaluating forthcoming neural repair strategies. The second major contribution of this dissertation was the development of two robotic devices to train animals before and after a cervical spinal cord injury (cSCI). The first of these devices, the Robotic Rehabilitator for the Rodent Upper Extremity (RUE), provides self-initiated and unsupervised motor training for a rat model of cSCI. The second device, the Bimanual Vending Machine (BVM), provides in-cage, self-initiated, and unsupervised motor training for a nonhuman primate model of cSCI. This dissertation work showed how both devices can provide therapy-like exercises for animals before and after the lesion. In the case of RUE, we showed that requiring volitional movements from the animal led to functional assessments of forelimb strength that were significantly larger than those measured with the more conventional approach of the grip strength meter (GSM). We also showed that RUE measured functional capabilities of the forelimb within days after cervical spinal cord injury, something that the GSM was unable to replicate.

For the BVM, we showed that animals readily learned to use the device to achieve repetitive and quantifiable, in-cage, self-training of the impaired hand. Furthermore, we proved that animals that are highly impaired and show little spontaneous use of their impaired hand were able to engage in repetitive training while at their home cage.

These robotic devices have great potential to help in the current efforts to find neural repair suitable for human clinical trials. They could prove key tools for studying the interaction of motor activity and neural repair as part of combination treatments with stem cells and drug treatments. We will continue to work closely with collaborators from UC Irvine and the UC Spinal Cord Injury Consortium to further develop these devices to meet their needs.

122

7.3 The real-world challenge point framework: optimal challenge in unsupervised motor training

The final major contribution of this dissertation stems from the results of training with different challenge levels in RUE. As previously discussed, a crucial aspect in motor skill training and rehabilitation is the adherence to the training or therapy program outside of the training environment. In a rehabilitation clinic, or in a training facility, a primary responsibility of the trainer (physical therapist or coach) is to modulate the challenge level of the trainee in order to optimize performance and learning while maintaining a high level of motivation. Motivation in this context is thus derived from both extrinsic factors provided by the trainer, and intrinsic factors derived from the trainee. The problem with this approach is that once the trainee is out in the 'real-world', where training is largely unsupervised, motivation must come directly from the trainee. This level of motivation is heavily based on the trainee's perception of his abilities, or his self-efficacy.

To optimize motor learning while training in highly motivating environments we propose the 'Real-World' Challenge Point framework. This framework, derived from the Challenge Point hypothesis framework by Guadagnoli and Lee [41], focuses on the implications that the challenge level can have on the motivation level of trainees. Namely, we seek to find the challenge level at which trainees will be highly motivated to participate in self-initiated training sessions while performing high number of repetitions at relatively high challenge levels (see Figure 7.1). Our working hypothesis consists of two parts: 1) there exists an inversely proportional relation between the challenge level and number of repetitions executed in a given period of training time; 2) there exists a proportional relation between the challenge level and the gain derived from each repetition performed. From these two parts we can define a nonlinear relation between the challenge level and the amount of learning/recovery in a given period of training time. We then hypothesize that there exists an optimal challenge level where trainees derive a maximum amount of learning/recovery in a fixed amount of training time. We show how robotic devices embedded with appropriate algorithms can both identify and control training experience around the real-world challenge point.



Figure 7.1: **Real-World Challenge Hypothesis** - The working hypothesis is that robotic training benefits are optimized at a specific challenge level because the willingness of the animal to practice, and the training gain per grasp movement vary oppositely to the challenge level. (A) The number of repetitions per minute is inversely proportional to the challenge level. (B) The benefit derived from each repetition is proportional to the challenge level. (C) Multiplying (A) and (B) yields a non-linear relationship from which we will derive the putative optimal challenge in relationship to the previously tested challenge levels; the optimal challenge level is the x-axis value at which recovery (gain/minute of training) is maximized.

As described in Chapter 5, the optimal challenge level for rats training in RUE was estimated at around 35% (i.e. a success rate of 65%). This framework needs to be tested at the newly predicted optimal challenge level and expanded to other tasks and training paradigms.

Bibliography

- [1] F. Abdollahi, E. C. Lazarro, M. Listenberger, R. Kenyon, M. Kovic, R. Bogey, D. Hedeker, B. Jovanovic, and J. Patton. Error augmentation enhancing arm recovery in individuals with chronic stroke: A randomized crossover design. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 2013.
- [2] D. L. Adkins, J. Boychuk, M. S. Remple, and J. A. Kleim. Motor training induces experience-specific patterns of plasticity across motor cortex and spinal cord. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 101(6):1776–1782, 2006.
- [3] R. M. Aguilar and O. Steward. A bilateral cervical contusion injury model in mice: Assessment of gripping strength as a measure of forelimb motor function. *Experimental Neurology*, 221(1):38 – 53, 2010.
- [4] F. Ambrosio, S. L. Wolf, A. Delitto, G. K. Fitzgerald, S. F. Badylak, M. L. Boninger, and A. J. Russell. The emerging relationship between regenerative medicine and physical therapeutics. *Physical Therapy*, 90(12):1807–1814, 2010.
- [5] D. I. Anderson, R. A. Magill, H. Sekiya, and G. Ryan. Support for an explanation of the guidance effect in motor skill learning. *J Mot Behav*, 37(3):231–238, 2005.
- [6] K. D. Anderson. Targeting recovery: Priorities of the spinal cord-injured population. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 21(10):1371–1383, 2004.
- [7] K. D. Anderson. Targeting recovery: Priorities of the spinal cord-injured population. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 21(10):1371–1383, 2004.
- [8] K. D. Anderson, M. Abdul, and O. Steward. Quantitative assessment of deficits and recovery of forelimb motor function after cervical spinal cord injury in mice. *Exp*, 190:184–191, 2004.
- [9] K. D. Anderson, K. G. Sharp, and O. Steward. Bilateral cervical contusion spinal cord injury in rats. *Experimental Neurology*, 220(1):9 22, 2009.
- [10] R. Badami, M. VaezMousavi, G. Wulf, and M. Namazizadeh. Feedback after good versus poor trials affects intrinsic motivation. *Res Q Exerc Sport*, 82(2):360– 364, 2011.

- [11] A. Bandura. Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psy-chol Rev*, 84(2):191–215, 1977.
- [12] A. Bandura. *Self-Efficacy*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2010.
- [13] F. M. Bareyre, M. Kerschensteiner, O. Raineteau, T. C. Mettenleiter, O. Weinmann, and M. E. Schwab. The injured spinal cord spontaneously forms a new intraspinal circuit in adult rats. *Nat Neurosci*, 7(3):269–277, 2004. 10.1038/nn1195.
- [14] D. Basso, M. Beattie, and J. Bresnahan. A sensitive and reliable locomotor rating scale for open field testing in rats. *J Neurotrauma*, 12(1):1–21, 1995.
- [15] A. Blight. Animal models of spinal cord injury. *Topics in Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation*, 6(2):1–13, 2000.
- [16] J. Bluteau, S. Coquillart, Y. Payan, and E. Gentaz. Haptic guidance improves the visuo-manual tracking of trajectories. *PLoS One*, 3(3):e1775, 2008.
- [17] E. J. Bradbury, L. D. F. Moon, R. J. Popat, V. R. King, G. S. Bennett, P. N. Patel, J. W. Fawcett, and S. B. McMahon. Chondroitinase abc promotes functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *Nature*, 416(6881):636–640, 2002. 10.1038/416636a.
- [18] N. S. C. I. S. Center. Facts and figures at a glance. Technical report, University of Alabama at Birmingham, 2013.
- [19] B. Cesqui, G. Macr, P. Dario, , and S. Micera. Characterization of age-related modifications of upper limb motor control strategies in a new dynamic environment. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 5(31), 2008.
- [20] G. Courtine, M. B. Bunge, J. W. Fawcett, R. G. Grossman, J. H. Kaas, R. Lemon, I. Maier, J. Martin, R. J. Nudo, A. Ramon-Cueto, E. M. Rouiller, L. Schnell, T. Wannier, M. E. Schwab, and V. R. Edgerton. Can experiments in nonhuman primates expedite the translation of treatments for spinal cord injury in humans? *Nat Med*, 13(5):561–566, 2007.
- [21] B. J. Cummings, N. Uchida, S. J. Tamaki, D. L. Salazar, M. Hooshmand, R. Summers, F. H. Gage, and A. J. Anderson. Human neural stem cells differentiate and promote locomotor recovery in spinal cord-injured mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(39):14069–14074, 2005.
- [22] V. Dietz and S. J. Harkema. Locomotor activity in spinal cord-injured persons. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 96(5):1954–1960, 2004.
- [23] B. H. Dobkin. Neurobiology of rehabilitation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.*, 1038:148–70, 2004.

- [24] B. H. Dobkin, P. Plummer-DAmato, R. Elashoff, J. Lee, and S. Group. International randomized clinical trial, stroke inpatient rehabilitation with reinforcement of walking speed (sirrows), improves outcomes. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 24(3):235–42, 2010.
- [25] A. Domingo and D. Ferris. The effects of error augmentation on learning to walk on a narrow balance beam. *Exp Brain Res*, 206(4):359–70, 2010.
- [26] J. Duarte, B. Gebrekristos, S. Perez, J. Rowe, K. Sharp, and D. Reinkensmeyer. Effort, performance, and motivation: Insights from robot-assisted training of human golf putting and rat grip strength. *IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot*, 2013:1–6, 2013.
- [27] T. Dubert. Outcome measurements in hand and upper limb surgery. *Chirurgie de la Main*, (0):–, 2014.
- [28] V. R. Edgerton, R. D. de Leon, S. J. Harkema, J. A. Hodgson, N. London, D. J. Reinkensmeyer, R. R. Roy, R. J. Talmadge, N. J. Tillakaratne, W. Timoszyk, and A. Tobin. Retraining the injured spinal cord. *The Journal of Physiology*, 533(1):15– 22, 2001.
- [29] J. Emken, R. Benitez, A. Sideris, J. Bobrow, and D. Reinkensmeyer. Motor adaptation as a greedy optimization of error and effort. *J Neurophysiol*, 97(6):3997– 4006, 2007.
- [30] J. Emken and D. Reinkensmeyer. Robot-enhanced motor learning: accelerating internal model formation during locomotion by transient dynamic amplification. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, 13(1):33–9, 2005.
- [31] K. A. Ericsson, T. Krampe, Ralf, and C. Tesch-Romer. The role of deliberate practice in the acquisition of expert performance. *Pschological Review*, 100(3):363– 406, 1993.
- [32] D. Feygin, M. Keehner, and F. Tendick. Haptic guidance: Experimental evaluation of a haptic training method for a perceptual motor skill. *IEEE Haptics Symp*, pages 40–47, 2002.
- [33] B. Florence M, K. Martin, R. Olivier, M. Thomas C, W. Oliver, and S. Martin E. The injured spinal cord spontaneously forms a new intraspinal circuit in adult rats. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7:269–277, 2004.
- [34] A. J. Fong, L. L. Cai, C. K. Otoshi, D. J. Reinkensmeyer, J. W. Burdick, R. R. Roy, and V. R. Edgerton. Spinal cord-transected mice learn to step in response to quipazine treatment and robotic training. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(50):11738–11747, 2005.
- [35] K. Fouad and W. Tetzlaff. Rehabilitative training and plasticity following spinal cord injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 235(1):91 99, 2012. Plasticity after Spinal Cord Injury.

- [36] D. Franklin, G. Liaw, T. Milner, R. Osu, E. Burdet, and M. Kawato. Endpoint stiffness of the arm is directionally tuned to instability in the environment. *J Neurosci*, 27(29):7705–7716, 2007.
- [37] G. Garcia-Alias, S. Barkhuysen, M. Buckle, and J. W. Fawcett. Chondroitinase abc treatment opens a window of opportunity for task-specific rehabilitation. *Nat Neurosci*, 12(9):1145–1151, 09 2009.
- [38] A. M. Gentile. Movement science: Implicit and explicit processes during acquisition of functional skills. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 5(1):7–16, 1998.
- [39] J. Girgis, D. Merrett, S. Kirkland, G. A. S. Metz, V. Verge, and K. Fouad. Reaching training in rats with spinal cord injury promotes plasticity and task specific recovery. *Brain*, 130(11):2993–3003, 2007.
- [40] F. Gomez-Pinilla, Z. Ying, R. R. Roy, R. Molteni, and V. R. Edgerton. Voluntary exercise induces a bdnf-mediated mechanism that promotes neuroplasticity. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 88(5):2187–2195, 2002.
- [41] M. A. Guadagnoli and T. D. Lee. Challenge point: A framework for conceptualizing the effects of various practice conditions in motor learning. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 36(2):212–224, 2004. PMID: 15130871.
- [42] C. B. Holroyd and M. G. H. Coles. The neural basis of human error processing: Reinforcement learning, dopamine, and the error-related negativity. *Psychological Review*, 109(4):679–709, 2002.
- [43] S. Housman, K. Scott, and D. Reinkensmeyer. A randomized controlled trial of gravity-supported, computer-enhanced arm exercise for individuals with severe hemiparesis. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 23(5):505–14, 2009.
- [44] F. Huang, J. Patton, and F. Mussa-Ivaldi. Manual skill generalization enhanced by negative viscosity. *J Neurophysiol*, 104(4):2008–19, 2010.
- [45] V. S. Huang and R. Shadmehr. Persistence of motor memories reflects statistics of the learning event. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 102(2):931–940, 2009.
- [46] J. R. Huie, K. M. Baumbauer, K. H. Lee, J. C. Bresnahan, M. S. Beattie, A. R. Ferguson, and J. W. Grau. Glial tumor necrosis factor alpha (tnf) generates metaplastic inhibition of spinal learning. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6):e39751, 06 2012.
- [47] N. M. Hunkin, E. J. Squires, A. J. Parkin, and J. A. Tidy. Are the benefits of errorless learning dependent on implicit memory? *Neuropsychologia*, 36(1):25 36, 1998.
- [48] A. KAMI, G. MEYER, P. JEZZARD, M. M. ADAMS, R. TURNER, and L. G. UNGERLEI-DER. Functional mri evidence for adult motor cortex plasticity during motor skill learning. *Nature*, 377(6545):155–158, 1995.

- [49] J. Klassen, C. Tong, and J. Flanagan. Learning and recall of incremental kinematic and dynamic sensorimotor transformations. *Experimental Brain Research*, 164(2):250–259, 2005.
- [50] J. A. Kleim, J. A. Boychuk, and D. L. Adkins. Rat models of upper extremity impairment in stroke. *ILAR Journal*, 48(4):374–385, 2007.
- [51] J. Kluzik, J. Diedrichsen, R. Shadmehr, and A. Bastian. Reach adaptation: what determines whether we learn an internal model of the tool or adapt the model of our arm? *J Neurophysiol*, 100(3):1455–64, 2008.
- [52] A. Krajacic, N. Weishaupt, J. Girgis, W. Tetzlaff, and K. Fouad. Training-induced plasticity in rats with cervical spinal cord injury: Effects and side effects. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 214(2):323 331, 2010.
- [53] H. I. Krebs, M. Krams, D. K. Agrafiotis, A. DiBernardo, J. C. Chavez, G. S. Littman, E. Yang, G. Byttebier, L. Dipietro, A. Rykman, K. McArthur, K. Hajjar, K. R. Lees, and B. T. Volpe. Robotic measurement of arm movements after stroke establishes biomarkers of motor recovery. *Stroke*, 45(1):200–204, 2014.
- [54] T. Kroll, A. Kratz, M. Kehn, M. P. Jensen, S. Groah, I. H. Ljungberg, I. R. Molton, and C. Bombardier. Perceived exercise self-efficacy as a predictor of exercise behavior in individuals aging with spinal cord injury. *American Journal of Phyiscal Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 91(8):640–651, 2012.
- [55] G. Kwakkel, R. van Peppen, R. C. Wagenaar, S. Wood Dauphinee, C. Richards, A. Ashburn, K. Miller, N. Lincoln, C. Partridge, I. Wellwood, and P. Langhorne. Effects of augmented exercise therapy time after stroke: A meta-analysis. *Stroke*, 35(11):2529–2539, 2004.
- [56] D.-H. Lee and J. Lee. Animal models of axon regeneration after spinal cord injury. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 29(4):436–444, 2013.
- [57] T. Lee, T. Ishikura, S. Kegel, D. Gonzalez, and S. Passmore. Head-putter coordination patterns in expert and less skilled golfers. *J Mot Behav*, 40(4):267–72, 2008.
- [58] J. Liepert, S. Graef, I. Uhde, O. Leidner, and C. Weiller. Training-induced changes of motor cortex representations in stroke patients. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 101(5):321–326, 2000.
- [59] J. Liu, S. Cramer, and D. Reinkensmeyer. Learning to perform a new movement with robotic assistance: comparison of haptic guidance and visual demonstration. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 3:20, 2006.
- [60] A. Lo, P. Guarino, L. Richards, J. Haselkorn, G. Wittenberg, D. Federman, R. Ringer, T. Wagner, H. Krebs, B. V. BT, C. J. Bever, D. Bravata, P. Duncan, B. Corn,
A. Maffucci, S. Nadeau, S. Conroy, J. Powell, G. Huang, and P. Peduzzi. Robotassisted therapy for long-term upper-limb impairment after stroke. *N Engl J Med*, 362:1772–83, 2010.

- [61] K. R. Lohse, C. E. Lang, and L. A. Boyd. Is more better? using metadata to explore doseresponse relationships in stroke rehabilitation. *Stroke*, 45(7):2053–2058, 2014.
- [62] J. Lttgen and H. Heuer. The influence of haptic guidance on the production of spatio-temporal patterns. *Hum Mov Sci*, 31(3):519–28, 2012.
- [63] J. Lttgen and H. Heuer. The influence of robotic guidance on different types of motor timing. *J Mot Behav*, 45(3):249–58, 2013.
- [64] P. Lu, A. Blesch, L. Graham, Y. Wang, R. Samara, K. Banos, V. Haringer, L. Havton, N. Weishaupt, D. Bennett, K. Fouad, and M. H. Tuszynski. Motor axonal regeneration after partial and complete spinal cord transection. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(24):8208–8218, 2012.
- [65] P. Lu, Y. Wang, L. Graham, K. McHale, M. Gao, D. Wu, J. Brock, A. Blesch, E. S. Rosenzweig, L. A. Havton, B. Zheng, J. M. Conner, M. Marsala, and M. H. Tuszynski. Long-distance growth and connectivity of neural stem cells after severe spinal cord injury. *Cell*, 150(6):1264–1273, 2014/08/11.
- [66] P. Lu, G. Woodruff, Y. Wang, L. Graham, M. Hunt, D. Wu, E. Boehle, R. Ahmad, G. Poplawski, J. Brock, L. B. Goldstein, and M. Tuszynski. Long-distance axonal growth from human induced pluripotent stem cells after spinal cord injury. *Neuron*.
- [67] I. C. Maier, K. Baumann, M. Thallmair, O. Weinmann, J. Scholl, and M. E. Schwab. Constraint-induced movement therapy in the adult rat after unilateral corticospinal tract injury. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(38):9386–9403, 2008.
- [68] L. Marchal-Crespo and D. J. Reinkensmeyer. Haptic guidance can enhance motor learning of a steering task. *J Mot Behav*, 40(6):545–56, 2008.
- [69] L. Marchal-Crespo and D. J. Reinkensmeyer. Review of control strategies for robotic movement training after neurologic injury. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 16:6–20, 2009.
- [70] L. Marchal-Crespo, M. van Raai, G. Rauter, P. Wolf, and R. Riener. The effect of haptic guidance and visual feedback on learning a complex tennis task. *Exp Brain Res*, 231(3):277–91, 2013.
- [71] J. P. Maurissen, B. R. Marable, A. K. Andrus, and K. E. Stebbins. Factors affecting grip strength testing. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 25(5):543 553, 2003.
- [72] J. Maxwell, R. Masters, E. Kerr, and W. E. The implicit benefit of learning without errors. *Q J Exp Psychol A*, 54(4):1049–1068, 2001.

- [73] E. McAuley and T. Duncan. Psychometric properties of the intrinsic motivation inventory in a competitive sport setting: A confirmatory factor analysis. *Res Q Exerc Sport*, 60(1):48–58, 1989.
- [74] G. Metz and I. Whishaw. Skilled reaching an action pattern: Stability in rat (rattus norvegicus) grasping movements as a function of changing food pellet size. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 116(2):111–122, 2000. cited By (since 1996)88.
- [75] O. Meyer, H. Tilson, W. Byrd, and M. Riley. A method for the routine assessment of fore- and hindlimb grip strength of rats and mice. *Neurobehavioral Toxicology and Teratology*, 1(3):233–236, 1979. cited By (since 1996)187.
- [76] M. Milot, L. Marchal-Crespo, C. Green, S. Cramer, and D. J. Reinkensmeyer. Comparison of error-amplification and haptic-guidance training techniques for learning of a timing-based motor task by healthy individuals. *Exp Brain Res*, 201(2):119–31, 2010.
- [77] A. Mirelman, P. Bonato, and J. E. Deutsch. Effects of training with a robotvirtual reality system compared with a robot alone on the gait of individuals after stroke. *Stroke*, 40(1):169–74, 2009.
- [78] V. Moser. *Behavioral Model Systems for Evaluating Neuropathology*. 2011. cited By (since 1996)0.
- [79] J. Nessler, M. Moustafa-Bayoumi, D. Soto, J. Duhon, and R. Schmitt. Assessment of hindlimb locomotor strength in spinal cord transected rats through animalrobot contact force. *J Biomech Eng*, 133(12), 2011.
- [80] Y. Nout, E. Rosenzweig, J. Brock, S. Strand, R. Moseanko, S. Hawbecker, S. Zdunowski, J. Nielson, R. Roy, G. Courtine, A. Ferguson, V. Edgerton, M. Beattie, J. Bresnahan, and M. Tuszynski. Animal models of neurologic disorders: A nonhuman primate model of spinal cord injury. *Neurotherapeutics*, 9(2):380– 392, 2012.
- [81] Y. S. Nout, A. R. Ferguson, S. C. Strand, R. Moseanko, S. Hawbecker, S. Zdunowski, J. L. Nielson, R. R. Roy, H. Zhong, E. S. Rosenzweig, J. H. Brock, G. Courtine, V. R. Edgerton, M. H. Tuszynski, M. S. Beattie, and J. C. Bresnahan. Methods for functional assessment after c7 spinal cord hemisection in the rhesus monkey. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 26(6):556–569, 2012.
- [82] R. Oman and A. King. Predicting the adoption and maintenance of exercise participation using self-efficacy and previous exercise participation rates. *Am J Health Promot*, 12(3):154–61, 1998.
- [83] M. Oudega and M. A. Perez. Corticospinal reorganization after spinal cord injury. *The Journal of Physiology*, 590(16):3647–3663, 2012.

- [84] J. Patton, M. Stoykov, M. Kovic, and F. Mussa-Ivaldi. Evaluation of robotic training forces that either enhance or reduce error in chronic hemiparetic stroke survivors. *Exp Brain Res*, 168(3):368–83, 2006.
- [85] S. Perez. *Estimating Maximal Effort Movement during Rehabilitative Training of Humans and Rodents*. PhD thesis, University of California, Irvine, 2012.
- [86] P. Poli, G. Morone, G. Rosati, and S. Masiero. Robotic technologies and rehabilitation: new tools for stroke patients' therapy. *Biomed Res Int*, 2013:153872, 2013.
- [87] J. Poolton, R. Masters, and J. Maxwell. The relationship between initial errorless learning conditions and subsequent performance. *Hum Mov Sci*, 24(3):362–78, 2005.
- [88] C. E. Reiley and G. D. Hager. Using robots to train the surgeons of tomorrow, June 2011.
- [89] D. Reinkensmeyer, D. Aoyagi, J. Emken, J. Galvez, W. Ichinose, G. Kerdanyan, J. Nessler, S. Maneekobkunwong, B. Timoszyk, K. Vallance, R. Weber, R. de Leon, J. Bobrow, S. Harkema, J. Wynne, and V. Edgerton. Robotic gait training: toward more natural movements and optimal training algorithms. In *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2004. IEMBS '04. 26th Annual International Conference of the IEEE*, volume 2, pages 4818–4821, Sept 2004.
- [90] D. Reinkensmeyer and M. Boninger. Technologies and combination therapies for enhancing movement training for people with a disability. *Journal of Neuro-Engineering and Rehabilitation*, 9(1):17, 2012.
- [91] D. J. Reinkensmeyer, E. Guigon, and M. A. Maier. A computational model of use-dependent motor recovery following a stroke: Optimizing corticospinal activations via reinforcement learning can explain residual capacity and other strength recovery dynamics. *Neural Networks*, 2930(0):60 69, 2012.
- [92] D. J. Reinkensmeyer and S. Housman. If i cant do it once, why do it a hundred times?: Connecting volition to movement success in a virtual environment motivates people to exercise the arm after stroke. *Virtual Rehabilitation*, 2007:44–48, 2007.
- [93] D. J. Reinkensmeyer and J. Patton. Can robots help the learning of skilled actions? *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 37(1):43–51, 2009.
- [94] E. M. Robertson and D. A. Cohen. Understanding consolidation through the architecture of memories. *The Neuroscientist*, 12(3):261–271, 2006.
- [95] V. L. Roger, A. S. Go, D. M. Lloyd-Jones, R. J. Adams, J. D. Berry, T. M. Brown, M. R. Carnethon, S. Dai, G. de Simone, E. S. Ford, C. S. Fox, H. J. Fullerton, C. Gillespie, K. J. Greenlund, S. M. Hailpern, J. A. Heit, P. M. Ho, V. J. Howard, B. M. Kissela, S. J.

Kittner, D. T. Lackland, J. H. Lichtman, L. D. Lisabeth, D. M. Makuc, G. M. Marcus, A. Marelli, D. B. Matchar, M. M. McDermott, J. B. Meigs, C. S. Moy, D. Mozaffarian, M. E. Mussolino, G. Nichol, N. P. Paynter, W. D. Rosamond, P. D. Sorlie, R. S. Stafford, T. N. Turan, M. B. Turner, N. D. Wong, and J. Wylie-Rosett. Heart disease and stroke statistics2011 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*, 2010.

- [96] R. Ryan. Control and information in the intrapersonal sphere: An extension of cognitive evaluation theory. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 43(3):450–461, 1982.
- [97] E. Saemi, J. Porter, A. Ghotbi-Varzaneh, M. Zarghami, and F. Maleki. Knowledge of results after relatively good trials enhances self-efficacy and motor learning. *Psychol Sport Exerc*, 13(4):378–382, 2012.
- [98] A. Salmoni, R. Schmidt, and C. Walter. Knowledge of results and motor learning: A review and critical reappraisal. *Psychol Bull*, 95(3):355–386, 1984.
- [99] A. Sans-Muntadas, J. E. Duarte, and D. J. Reinkensmeyer. Robot-assisted motor training: Assistance decreases exploration during reinforcement learning. In *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society,EMBC, 2014 Annual International Conference of the IEEE*, 2014. in press.
- [100] G. Schrimsher and P. Reier. Forelimb motor performance following cervical spinal cord contusion injury in the rat. *Experimental Neurology*, 117(3):287–298, 1992. cited By (since 1996)53.
- [101] M. E. Schwab and D. Bartholdi. Degeneration and regeneration of axons in the lesioned spinal cord. *Physiological Reviews*, 76(2):319–370, 1996.
- [102] N. Schweighofer, C. Han, S. Wolf, M. Arbib, and C. Winstein. A functional threshold for long-term use of hand and arm function can be determined: Predictions from a computational model and supporting data from the extremity constraint-induced therapy evaluation (excite) trial. *Phys Ther*, 89(12):1327–36, 2009.
- [103] L. A. Simpson, J. J. Eng, J. T. Hsieh, D. L. Wolfe, and the Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation Evidence (SCIRE) Research Team. The health and life priorities of individuals with spinal cord injury: A systematic review. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 29(8):1548–1555, 2012.
- [104] C. Spalletti, S. Lai, M. Mainardi, A. Panarese, A. Ghionzoli, C. Alia, L. Gianfranceschi, C. Chisari, S. Micera, and M. Caleo. A robotic system for quantitative assessment and poststroke training of forelimb retraction in mice. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 28(2):188–196, 2014.
- [105] S. Spencer. *Movement Training and Post-Stroke Rehabilitation Using a Six Degree* of Freedom Upper-Extremity Robotic Orthosis and Virtual Environment. PhD thesis, University of California, Irvine, 2011.

- [106] R. P. Stroemer, T. A. Kent, and C. E. Hulsebosch. Enhanced neocortical neural sprouting, synaptogenesis, and behavioral recovery with d-amphetamine therapy after neocortical infarction in rats. *Stroke*, 29(11):2381–2395, 1998.
- [107] E. Taub, G. Uswatte, V. W. Mark, and D. M. Morris. The learned nonuse phenomenon: implications for rehabilitation. *Eura Medicophys*, 42(3):241–56, 2006.
- [108] R. Teasell, J. Bitensky, K. Salter, and N. A. Bayona. The role of timing and intensity of rehabilitation therapies. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 12(3):46–57, 2005.
- [109] M. Trempe, M. Sabourin, and L. Proteau. Success modulates consolidation of a visuomotor adaptation task. *J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn*, 38(1):52–60, 2012.
- [110] E. van Asseldonk, M. Wessels, A. Stienen, and F. van der Helm andH. van der Kooij. Influence of haptic guidance in learning a novel visuomotor task. *J Physiol Paris*, 103(3-5):276–85, 2009.
- [111] R. van den Brand, J. Heutschi, Q. Barraud, J. DiGiovanna, K. Bartholdi, M. Huerlimann, L. Friedli, I. Vollenweider, E. M. Moraud, S. Duis, N. Dominici, S. Micera, P. Musienko, and G. Courtine. Restoring voluntary control of locomotion after paralyzing spinal cord injury. *Science*, 336(6085):1182–1185, 2012.
- [112] B. Vigaru, O. Lambercy, L. Graber, R. Fluit, P. Wespe, M. Schubring-Giese, A. Luft, and R. Gassert. A small-scale robotic manipulandum for motor training in stroke rats. *IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot*, 2011:5975349, 2011.
- [113] L. vila, S. C. S, G. Wulf, and R. Lewthwaite. Positive social-comparative feedback enhances motor learning in children. *Psychol Sport Exerc*, 13(6):849–853, 2012.
- [114] C. Winstein, P. Pohl, and R. Lewthwaite. Effects of physical guidance and knowledge of results on motor learning: support for the guidance hypothesis. *Res Q Exerc Sport*, 65(4):316–23, 1994.
- [115] J. K. Witt and T. E. Dorsch. Kicking to bigger uprights: field goal kicking performance influences perceived size. *Perception*, 38(9):1328–40, 2009. Witt, Jessica K Dorsch, Travis E Journal Article England Perception. 2009;38(9):1328-40.
- [116] J. K. Witt, S. A. Linkenauger, J. Z. Bakdash, and D. R. Proffitt. Putting to a bigger hole: Golf performance relates to perceived size. *Psychon Bull Rev.*, 15(3):581– 585, June 2008.
- [117] J. K. Witt and D. R. Proffitt. See the ball, hit the ball: Apparent ball size is correlated with batting average. *Psychological Science*, 2005.
- [118] S. Wolf, C. Winstein, J. Miller, and et al. Effect of constraint-induced movement therapy on upper extremity function 3 to 9 months after stroke: The excite randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*, 296(17):2095–2104, 2006.

[119] J. K. Wong and O. Steward. One day of motor training with amphetamine impairs motor recovery following spinal cord injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 233(2):693 – 707, 2012. Special Issue: {NIH} Replication Studies.